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In 1859, Charles Darwin published his theory of natural selection 
amid an explosion of controversy. 

Like the work of Copernicus in the 16th century revealing the movement of the Earth, Darwin’s idea shook 
the foundations of the establishment and profoundly altered humanity’s view of its place in the universe. 
Put simply, evolution explains the striking similarities among vastly different forms of life, the changes that 
occur and the development of new life forms.  Evolution is really the process to have shaped life.

So, too, we at the Unit Trust Corporation have not only evolved from infancy into a formidable institution 
with about TT$20 billion in Funds Under Management but we have altered the investment landscape.

In a rapidly changing global business environment, the pressure on organisations to make accurate and 
timely decisions has never been greater. The ability to identify challenges, spot opportunities and adapt 
with agility is not just a competitive advantage but also a requirement for survival. On all counts, we have 
risen to the challenge where our footprint is there for all to see.

We understand that if we are to continue to meet the needs of our unit holders, we need to evolve to adapt 
to meet any environment and improve the quality of life for our unit holders. Thirty three years ago, we 
shook the foundation of the country’s financial landscape, opening up the mutual funds sector in a way 
that made saving and investing a reality for our citizens.

Key to this success has been embracing change and empowering our customers with innovative products 
and having laser focus on market change. In addition, a philosophy of innovation has been embedded 
throughout the organisation, resulting in a constant flow of new ideas supported by strategic decisions.

We will maintain our competitive edge not by making cosmetic changes but by rigorously and responsibly 
focusing on creating value with mechanisms for robust decision making.  That is what our evolution is all 
about.  If we want to shape our financial landscape and bring value to you, our unit holders, we cannot be 
guided by what others have already done but must anticipate changes and seize opportunities. That is our 
aspiration. But we will make such changes in a responsible and prudent manner.

And we will work hard and tirelessly to achieve that. 
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To be the people’s 

preferred financial 

services provider 

in the region.

VISION
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To create and enhance customers’ wealth 

by providing superior financial services, 

in a caring and cost-effective manner 

through dynamic leadership, good 

governance, advanced technology and an 

empowered and knowledgeable staff.

MISSION
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CORPORATE 
INFORMATION

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Chairman   

Mr. Wendell Mottley

Executive Director   

Mr. ian Chinapoo

  

Directors   

Mr. leonardo Ambrose  (Insurance Representative)

Mrs. Michal Y. Andrews (Independent)

Mr. terrence Bharath (Independent)

Mr. Peter Clarke (Insurance Representative)

Mr. Dennis Gurley (Bankers Association Representative)

Ms. Anne-Marie James (Central Bank Representative) 

Mr. Ruben McSween (NIB Representative)

Ms. Sharon Mohammed (Ministry of Finance Representative)

Mr. Dominic Rampersad (Independent)

Mr. John tang nian (Bankers Association Representative) 

   

Corporate Secretary  

Mrs. Kendra thomas-long 

CHANGES IN THE BOARD

the terms of office of Mrs. Michal Y. Andrews and Mr. Terrence 

Bharath both independent Directors expired on April 22nd, 2014.  

Mr. Bharath and Mrs. Andrews were re-appointed by the Board 

of the Corporation under section 7, sub-sections (2), (5A) & (6) 

of the Act for a period of one (1) year effective June 3rd, 2014.   

Ms. Anne-Marie James, Central Bank of trinidad and 

tobago Representative was appointed to the Board of the 

Corporation  in accordance with Section 7(1) (c), (4) and 

(5) of the Act, effective May 1st, 2014 to May 9th, 2016, that 

is, for the unexpired portion  of the term of Ms. Wendy Ho 

Sing,  who served on the Board up to April 30th, 2014. 

Mr. Dominic Rampersad, independent Director was appointed 

by the Board Directors under section 7, sub-sections (2), (5A) & (6) 

of the Act effective 12th June, 2014, for a period of one (1) year.

Mr. Wendell Mottley was reappointed as Chairman of 

the Board of Directors of the Corporation in accordance 

with section 7(1)(a) and 10(1) of the Act for a period of 

six (6) months with effect from January 1st, 2015. 

Ms. Sharon Mohammed Ministry of Finance Representative was 

re-appointed by the Board of Directors under section 7(1)(d) of the 

Act for a period of two (2) years  with effect from January 1, 2015. 
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CORPORATE OFFICES

Port Of Spain
UTC Financial Centre
82 Independence Square 
Port of Spain  
Tel: (868) 624-UNIT (8648)
Fax: (868) 624-0819
E-Mail: utc@ttutc.com 
Web: www.ttutc.com
 

Head Office and Main 
Investment Centre

Investment Centres

Arima
40-40A Green Street
Arima
Tel: (868) 667-UNIT (8648)
Fax: (868) 667-2586

Chaguanas
26-28 Endeavour Road
Chaguanas, 500677
Tel: (868) 671-UNIT (8648)
Fax:  (868) 671-6581

Couva
26 Southern Main Road
Couva
Tel: (868) 636-9871
Fax: (868) 636-4750

One Woodbrook Place
Unit 27, One Woodbrook Place
189 Tragarete Road
Port of Spain
Tel: (868) 625-UNIT (8648)
Fax: (868) 628-4879

Point Fortin
13 Handel Road
Point Fortin                                                                                                             
Tel: (868) 648-6836/2997
Fax: (868) 648-2997

Sangre Grande
Sinanan Building
2 Eastern Main Road  
Sangre Grande 
Tel: (868) 668-6475/
691-UNIT (8648)
Fax: (868) 668-3872 

AGENCIES  

David Downer
Shop  174
The Falls, West Mall
Western Main Road
Westmoorings
Tel/Fax: (868) 223-9151/52/57

Eve Financial Services Limited
(Ruben McSween)
Level 2 Movie Towne Boulevard
Invaders Bay
Audrey Jeffers Highway
Port of Spain
Tel: 223-6697/6805/6505/6517
Fax: 223-6728

GMF Investments &  
Financial Planning Services 
Limited
(Glen Miguel Figuera)
21 Shoppes of Maraval
Maraval
Tel/Fax: (868) 628-0809

Keith King
46 Agra Street
St. James
Tel: (868) 628-1175/1554

Michael Redhead
Suites 11 &12
Tropical Plaza
Pointe-a-Pierre
Tel/Fax: (868) 658-7283
Tel/Fax: (868) 658-7340

Opufin Limited
(Sheldon Trim)
Anva Plaza
16-20 Eastern Main Road
Tunapuna 
Tel/Fax: (868) 645-8648

(Jamela Akinlana)  
Shop No. 3, Building A
Grand Bazaar
Tel/Fax: No. 663-8648   

Superior Wealth &  
Advisory Services 
(Jovan Sankar-Paul)
2nd Floor
216 SS Erin Road
Debe
Tel: (868) 647-2721
Fax: (868) 647-2201

Tomco Financial Services 
Limited
(Garth Thomas)
1st Floor, Wellness House
No. 9 Naparima Mayaro Road, 
Cocoyea
San Fernando
Tel: (868) 652-8031
Fax: (868) 653-8709

El Socorro Shopping Village 
Compound
Corner 5th Street &  
El Socorro Road -North
San Juan
Tel/Fax: 221-2211

San Fernando               
19-21 High Street
San Fernando
Tel: (868) 657-UNIT (8648) 
Tel:(868) 657-0041
Fax: (868) 652-0620

Tobago  
Cor. Main & Castries Streets
Scarborough                                                                    
Tobago  
Tel: (868) 639-5096/3921
Fax: (868) 660-7730

Unique Investments
(Samuel Saunders)
Unit B2:15 Level 2,      
Trincity Mall
Trincity
Tel/Fax: (868) 640-8589  

The Auditor General of the  
Republic of Trinidad & Tobago
Level 2-4, Tower C 
Port of Spain International 
Waterfront Centre 
1 Wrightson Road 
Port of Spain

Audit Advisory & Taxation 
PricewaterhouseCoopers 
Chartered Accountants
11-13 Victoria Avenue
Port of Spain

Head Internal Audit 
Vickram Joadsingh  
AVP Internal Audit  
 

OVERSEAS

Cohen Fund Audit Services 
Limited
1350 Euclid Avenue, Suite 800
Cleveland, OH 44115-1877
United States of America

Mayer Hoffman McCann P.C.
KRMT Tampa Bay Division
13577 Feather Sound Drive, 
Suite 400
Clearwater, FL 33762
United States of America

AUDITORS 

BANKERS

LOCAL

Central Bank of  
Trinidad & Tobago 
Central Bank Building  
Eric Williams Plaza 
Independence Square
Port of Spain

Republic Bank Limited 
Promenade Centre 
72 Independence Square
Port of Spain 

RBC Royal Bank  
(Trinidad & Tobago) Limited
55 Independence Square
Port of Spain 

ATTORNEYS

LOCAL

Fitzwilliam Stone, Furness-
Smith & Morgan
40-45 Sackville Street
Port of Spain

Mair & Company
50 Richmond Street
Port of Spain.

Pollonais, Blanc, De La  
Bastide & Jacelon
Pembroke Court
17-19 Pembroke Street
Port of Spain

Citibank (Trinidad & Tobago) 
Limited 
#12 Queen’s Park East
Port of Spain

First Citizens Bank Limited
62 Independence Square
Port of Spain

OVERSEAS

Citibank N.A. 
11 Wall Street 
New York 
U.S.A., NY 10043
                                                                
 

Girwar & Deonarine
17-19 Court Street
San Fernando

J.D. Sellier & Company
129-131 Abercromby Street 
Port of Spain

Lex Caribbean
5/7 Sweet Briar Road
St. Clair

Johnson, Camacho & Singh
10 Sweet Briar Road
St. Clair

OVERSEAS

Foley & Lardner
777 East Wisconsin Avenue
Milwaukee
Wisconsin 53202-5367
USA

Kelly Drye & Warren LLP
101 Park Avenue
New York, NY

Law Offices of Jon P Yormick 
Co., LPA
Leader Building
526 Superior Avenue, E. – Suite 230
Cleveland
Ohio, 44114
USA
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Representative
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Representative

independent

DENNIS 
GURLEY

Bankers 
Association 
Representative

SHARON 
MOHAMMED

Ministry of Finance 
Representative

DOMINIC 
RAMPERSAD
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Representative

TERRENCE 
BHARATH

independent
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Representative
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EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT

Judith Sobion
Vice President - Corporate 
Support Services

Pamela Williams 
Vice President - Office of 
Strategy Management

Nigel Edwards
Vice President - Finance

Patrick Solomon
Vice President -  
Risk Management

Gayle Daniel-Worrell
Vice President -  
Marketing, 
Communications &  
Distribution Channels

Warren Sookdar
Chief Information Officer -  
Information and 
Communications Technology
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Derrick Redman
General Counsel 
& Vice President - 
Corporate Affairs

Ian Chinapoo
Executive Director

Amoy Van Lowe
Vice President -  
Advisory Services

Sekou Mark
Vice President - Investment 
Research & Portfolio 
Management

Ravi Ramoutar
Vice President -  
Trust Services
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2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014
$ million $ million $ million $ million $ million $ million $ million

FUNDS UNDER MANAGEMENT 

Growth & income Fund 3,468.31 3,123.82 3,031.23 3,320.19 3,748.45  4,438.09  4,687.37 

tt$ income Fund 7,972.32 10,345.82 10,138.22 10,602.66 11,203.77  10,662.59  10,474.48 

universal Retirement Fund 138.67 149.26 162.90  186.92 212.71  257.35  273.94 

uS$ income Fund 3,995.19 4,830.43 4,140.49 4,166.06 4,578.22  3,900.08  4,054.42 

utC Corporate Fund  -  19.28 

utC energy Fund 27.51 30.15 32.78  39.62 31.52  -  - 

utC latin American Fund 6.22 6.71 8.12  7.12 7.57  -  - 

utC european Fund 5.75 6.38 6.67  5.97 6.76  -  - 

utC Asia Pacific Fund 9.44 9.39 13.70  11.96 11.75  -  - 

utC Global Bond Fund 8.90 9.90 10.72  10.64 10.69  -  - 

utC north American Fund 190.75 215.20 195.29  189.41 196.44  225.48  262.48 

Belize Money Market Fund 102.22 85.40 24.03  -  -  -  - 

Pension & other Funds 649.47 596.09 528.98  560.54 650.28  535.00  564.54 

treasury portfolio 3,391.82 3,160.08 2,587.63  2,462.40 1580.38  1,175.54  573.19 

Total Funds Under Management ($M) 19,966.56 22,568.63 20,880.76 21,563.49 22,238.53  21,194.13  20,909.71 

MUTUAL FUND SALES ($M) FOR THE YEAR

Growth & income Fund 516.81 684.96 327.61  408.64 552.37  623.08  630.87 

tt$ income Fund 4,871.89 6,932.21 4,912.84  4,975.55 5,317.91  4,361.36  3,376.34 

universal Retirement Fund 23.23 23.79 23.21  22.50 26.24  44.42  36.02 

uS$ income Fund 2,993.13 2,548.93 1,808.49  1,566.10 1,428.31  1,272.81  1,265.17 

utC Corporate Fund  -  19.28 

utC energy Fund 4.19 4.21 52.62  201.21 26.51  8.21  - 

utC latin American Fund 6.45 0.12 0.51  0.65 0.19  0.12  - 

utC european Fund 6.45 0.08 0.23  0.08 0.04  0.04  - 

utC Asia Pacific Fund 9.13 0.33 3.62  0.53 0.28  0.21  - 

utC Global Bond Fund 9.85 0.13 0.56  0.28 0.09  0.83  - 

utC north American Fund 130.06 1.93 1.70  1.12 0.67  2.56  17.90 

Belize Money Market Fund 18.21 7.89 9.27  1.37 0.00  - 

Total Sales ($M) 8,589.40 10,204.59 7,140.66 7,178.03 7,352.62 6,313.62 5,345.59

Funds Mobilised ($M) to date 65,592.28 75,796.88 82,937.54 90,115.56 97,468.18 103,781.80 109,127.40

Unitholder Accounts to date 709,603 742,996 764,685 784,107 804,162 824,207 841,375
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PORTFOLIO OF 
INVESTMENTS

55.26%

CASH AND CASH  
EQUIVALENTS

ASSET ALLOCATION
FOR THE TT DOLLAR 
INCOME FUND 

trinidad & tobago unit trust Corporation

As at 31 December, 2014

Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars

tt DollAR inCoMe FunD
toP ten HolDinGS   

% of Portfolio toP 10 HolDinGS

Republic Bank Limited TT$1B 8.55% 10 Yrs FXRB 2018 2.12%

GOTT US$550M 4.375% FXRB due 2024 2.13%

Treasury Bill OMO 13-68 TT$265M 0.59% due Oct. 2015 2.53%

Treasury Bill OMO 13-44 TT$283.9M 0.49% due July 2015 2.72%

NIPDEC TT$1B 4% FXRB 16 YRS DUE 2029 2.94%

Petrotrin US$850 9.75% FXRB due 2019 3.51%

Treasury Bill OMO 1358 TT$250M 0.42% due Sept. 2015 3.83%

GOTT  TT$ 2B 15Yr. 5.20% FXRB due 2027 3.83%

Treasury Bill OMO 1354 TT$462M 0.42% due Sept. 2015 4.42%

UDECOTT TT$3.40B 15YR FLRB due 2028 5.28%

TOTAL 33.31%

44.74%

BONDS
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PORTFOLIO OF 
INVESTMENTS

trinidad & tobago unit trust Corporation

As at 31 December, 2014

Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars

uS DollAR inCoMe FunD  
toP ten HolDinGS   

% of Portfolio toP 10 HolDinGS

IBM FXRB 5.7% US$3B DUE 2017 1.89%

General Mills Inc US$1.15Bn 5.65% FXRB due 2019 1.92%

Amgen Inc. US$500M 6.15% FXRB due 2018 1.93%

Pharmacia Corp US$500Mn 6.50% FXRB due 2018 1.98%

Lloyds TSB Bank US$11M 10Yr. CMS FLRB due 2020 2.54%

Barclays Bank Plc. US$15m 10Yr. CMS FLRB due 2020 2.57%

Portfolio Credit Mgt Co ltd (PCML) US$15.75M 1.65% FLRB (Series 4) due 2022 2.67%

GOTT US$550M 4.375% FXRB due 2024 3.61%

Citigroup Inc US$30M 5Yr CMS FLRB due 2015 4.07%

Petrotrin US$850M 9.75% FXRB due 2019 8.94%

TOTAL 32.13%

79.55%

CASH AND CASH  
EQUIVALENTS

ASSET ALLOCATION
FOR THE US DOLLAR 

INCOME FUND
 

20.45%

BONDS
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PORTFOLIO OF 
INVESTMENTS

19.01% CASH AND CASH  
EQUIVALENTS

ASSET ALLOCATION
FOR THE GROWTH AND 
INCOME FUND 

trinidad & tobago unit trust Corporation

As at 31 December, 2014

Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars

GRoWtH AnD inCoMe FunD  
toP ten HolDinGS   

% of Portfolio toP 10 HolDinGS

Treasury Bill 1364 2.23%

Phoenix Park Gas Processors Limited 2.29%

Global Infrastructure Partners C. L. P. 2.43%

GOTT TT$1Bn FXRB 6.0% due 2031 2.66%

UDECOTT TT$3.40Bn 15YR Variable Rate Bond due 2028 5.02%

First Citizens Bank Limited Common Shares 5.08%

ANSA McAl Limited Common Shares 5.83%

Republic Bank Limited Common Shares 6.02%

Scotiabank Trinidad and Tobago Limited Common Shares 6.08%

Neal & Massy Holdings Limited Common Shares 6.45%

TOTAL 44.08%

17.47%

BONDS

63.52%
EQUITIES



19PoRtFolio oF inveStMentS

PORTFOLIO OF 
INVESTMENTS

trinidad & tobago unit trust Corporation

As at 31 December, 2014

Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars

univeRSAl RetiReMent FunD   
toP ten HolDinGS   

% of Portfolio toP 10 HolDinGS

West Indian Tobacco Company Common Shares 3.02

National Enterprises Limited Common Shares 3.13

Scotiabank Trinidad and Tobago Limited Common Shares 3.35

Republic Bank Limited Common Shares 3.61

ANSA McAl Limited Common Shares 4.12

Citicorp Merchant Bank Limited ZCB 4.15% due 2027 4.76

Clico Investment Fund Common Shares 4.97

Neal & Massy Holdings Limited Common Shares 5.17

iShares S&P Global 100 Index Fund ETF 6.59

Petrotrin US$850M 9.75% FXRB due 2019 6.71

TOTAL 45.43% 61.33%

23.76%

CASH AND CASH  
EQUIVALENTS

ASSET ALLOCATION
FOR THE UNIVERSAL 
RETIREMENT FUND

14.91%

EQUITIES

BONDS
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My fellow unit holders,
After two eventful years at the helm of the Trinidad & Tobago Unit Trust Corporation and 
overseeing its eminent transformation, my mission is completed.  It is now time to pass 
the baton.  I will soon be retiring as Chairman.  Rest assured, the Corporation now sits 
on a resilient foundation of sound finances, visionary leadership and strong governance 
structures which I confidently believe will redound to the benefit of  unit holders.  As 
the saying goes, “time flies when you are having fun” and indeed the time spent at the 
Corporation passed quickly and I thoroughly treasured every minute of steering the 
proverbial ship.  But my most profound rewards came from serving you, our valued unit 
holders.

If I were asked to reflect on which was my defining contribution in serving you during 
my stewardship, I would unequivocally point to the recruiting and retention of one of 
the finest teams of investment professionals in the financial services industry and then, 
with the support and guidance of a very fine Board of Directors, in steering this team 
in the process of good governance.  So that today the UTC is the employer of choice in 
the industry.

Over the past couple of years, the UTC tirelessly sought to bring discipline to our 
operations and so preserve value for our  unit holders.  That required making some 
tough decisions.

We disciplined our processes for taking write downs and as such, have proactively made 
provisions for impairments over the last two years.  Simultaneously, we overhauled our 
investment decision making processes.  Consequently, I am confident that we now have 
a whistle clean balance sheet.  With recent developments at Trinidad Cement Limited 
I anticipate we may even enjoy some write backs.

In 2013, we closed a number of non-performing funds.  We also created our newest fund 
– the UTC Corporate Fund (UCF) in 2014.  This fund was borne out of the need to provide 
an investment opportunity to investors with excess liquidity, a challenge that has plagued 
the domestic financial system for the past couple of years.   

Aligned with our commitment to provide you, our  unit holders, with competitive returns 
on your investments, the Corporation took a proactive stance and leadership role to 
strengthen its investment portfolio.  As such, we entered into a strategic partnership with 
the National Insurance Board (NIBTT) and National Enterprises Ltd (NEL) and acquired 
a 10% stake in Phoenix Park Gas Processors Ltd for US$168 million.  The rewards of this 
investment will redound to the benefit of our  unit holders for many years to come.
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Global Economic Review 

2014 proved to be quite challenging on many fronts. the year was 

characterized by a sharp rise in geopolitical risk. i highlight the global 

threat of the terrorist group iSiS in iraq/Syria, the civil conflict in the 

ukraine and Russia’s annexation of Crimea that resulted in the subsequent 

wave of sanctions imposed by the international community. 

the economic recovery was also uneven, resulting in a divergence 

in monetary policy by the major central banks. in the united States, 

in response to accelerating growth, the Federal Reserve ended its 

Quantitative easing (Qe) programme and signaled monetary tightening 

in 2015. in contrast, both the european Central Bank (eCB) and the Bank 

of Japan loosened their monetary policy, with the eCB ending the year 

by signaling to markets, its intention to reconsider purchasing sovereign 

debt. in January 2015, the eCB agreed to buy 60 billion euros ($68.4 

billion) a month in government and private-sector bonds.

the strengthening uS economy underpinned a third year of gains in the 

uS equity market as highlighted in the graph below.

Chart 1: Performance of the S&P 500 index

the Corporation’s funds benefitted from the rally in uS equities, with the 

north American Fund being the star performer in 2014, with a return of 

10.65%. 

As the european Central Bank emulates successful uS Federal Policies, 

markets are anticipating a surge in european equity performance in 

2015. the utC is positioning its global investments accordingly.

By far, the most important global development of 2014 was the rapid 

decline in oil prices.  oil traded as high as uS$105.38 per barrel at the 

end of June 2014. thereafter, oil prices plummeted to uS$53.27 by 

the end of the year. this collapse was due to a combination of factors 

including weakened demand from China and increased oil supply from 

the uS as a result of the shale revolution. in these circumstances, Saudi 

Arabia led oPeC in determining that it would not lose market share 

to the uS in particular. Rather, they would allow price to plummet to 

drive down production from higher cost producers such as the uS. the 

consensus among energy experts is that this market shake out will last 

approximately two years. overall, oil prices fell by uS$45.15 or 45.9% in 

2014 from its closing price of uS$98.42 on December 31, 2013.  

Trinidad & Tobago Economy

Because of a fiscal year ending in September 2014, the domestic 

economy did not immediately reflect the negative repercussions of the 

lower oil and gas prices. As such, economic activity in trinidad & tobago 

rebounded in the third quarter of 2014 due to a pickup in production 

in the energy sector. After achieving flat growth for the first half of 

2014, provisional estimates indicated that the economy expanded 

by 1.9% year on year in the third quarter. Higher levels of production 

were recorded in natural gas and petrochemicals, after a period of 

contraction, while refining and exploration & production activity rose 

in the third quarter of 2014. Much of the resurgence was attributed 

to the completion of large-scale maintenance activity undertaken by 

the major gas producing companies in the first half of the year. Still 

curtailments of gas supplies to petrochemical producers continued, 

though at lower levels.

Citizens of trinidad & tobago were faced with a new challenge in 

2014 – supply shocks in the foreign exchange market for uS currency. 

During the year, forex demand consistently exceeded supply. this led to 

queuing, relieved temporarily by supply from the Central Bank of trinidad 

and tobago at the expense of reserves. Consequently, many persons 

and companies, including us at the Corporation, were challenged in 

obtaining uS dollars in pursuit of our investment strategies.

the domestic financial landscape continued to face high liquidity 

levels as the commercial banks excess reserves averaged tt$6.8 billion 

throughout the year. Being the largest mutual fund player in the financial 

services industry, the utC was not spared and we actively sought to 

manage our elevated liquidity levels. in this environment continuing 

downward pressure was exerted on interest rates.
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the persistent low interest rate environment negatively impacted the 

fixed income market as yields remained suppressed. the domestic stock 

market was also challenged to offer value. For the year, the trinidad & 

tobago Composite index fell by 2.88% compared to returns of 11.37% 

achieved in 2013. these two adverse and continuing developments in 

both the fixed income and equity markets have unfavourably impacted 

your distributions.

Unit Trust Corporation 

Amidst the gales of such volatility and uncertainty, the unit trust 

Corporation remained well anchored and never lost its disciplined focused 

approach to investing your money. Because that is what is required to be 

a beacon of Safety, Strength and Stability for you, our clients.

We continue to assiduously work to promote financial reform and 

transparency in every area of operations. Supported by a rigorous 

corporate governance structure and prudent management practices, 

utC’s leadership team have managed and continue to manage the 

Corporation’s day to day business with a long-term view and to exercise 

fiscal prudence.  in order so to do, the Corporation has adopted the 

enterprise Wide Risk Management approach. enterprise Wide Risk 

Management is a process which establishes standards, processes and 

an accountability structure to identify, assess and manage the key risks 

exposure of the Corporation in its pursuit of its objectives. this was 

rolled out across the enterprise and led to strengthening the control 

environment and improved governance.

our staff remain a key value proposition for the Corporation’s success 

as they are instrumental in meeting your ever-changing needs and 

providing solutions to complex problems against the backdrop of a 

rapidly changing world. We have sought to align their reward with utC 

corporate success by reintroducing pay for performance incentives.

Given the dearth of domestic investment opportunities, the Corporation 

has taken a proactive stance and leadership role to strengthen 

its investment portfolio, and by extension investment returns by 

establishing partnerships with key players in the financial services 

industry. As mentioned earlier, the collaborative effort of our investment 

team on the Phoenix Park Gas Processors limited instrument has already 

borne fruit, having received our first dividend payment within weeks 

of our investment. Plans are currently underway to participate in other 

domestic energy sector deals in the near future.

With roughly 45% of market share in the domestic mutual fund industry, 

the unit trust Corporation has a fiduciary responsibility, not only to you, 

our clients, but to the wider society of trinidad & tobago. 

in 2014, the Corporation was declared to be a Systemically important 

Financial institution (SiFi) and consequently to be regulated by the 

Central Bank of trinidad and tobago and the Securities and exchange 

Commission. Your Board and Management work seamlessly and 

cooperatively with our regulators to ensure that the Corporation is 

in compliance with the strictest standards of corporate governance. 

We are committed to building better financial futures, not just for 

yourselves, but for your grandchildren and great grandchildren. it is 

the Corporation’s mandate to help you build your long term financial 

security. As such, it is cardinal that we strive to protect you, our clients, 

from the myriad of downside risks in the domestic and global financial 

universe and simultaneously grow your returns responsibly. 

Closing Remarks

We will continue to establish and position ourselves to capitalize on 

the constant changing investment universe. echoing our watchwords 

– Safety, Strength and Stability – we pledge to you, our clients that the 

Corporation remains committed in providing you with competitive 

returns, superior customer services and enhanced investment solutions.

i would like to express my gratitude to the Central Bank of trinidad & 

tobago and the Minister of Finance and the economy for giving me 

the opportunity to serve this noble institution – an institution so rich in 

history and ingrained in trinidad & tobago’s society.

i would also like to acknowledge the regulators - the Central Bank of 

trinidad & tobago and the Securities and exchange Commission who 

are making notable strides to regularize the financial services industry 

and safeguard the assets of all investors, those current and future 

generations to come. We, at the utC fully endorse this new thrust by 

the regulatory authorities and are willing and committed to play our 

part as a Pioneer of Change, instilling and promoting market confidence 

and stability in our domestic financial industry. 

i would like to thank the Members of the Board of Directors, the executive 

Management team and staff for their hard work and dedication. it has 

been a privilege to serve as Chairman for the past two and a half years. i 

leave you with the assurance that the state of your Corporation, the utC, 

is strong… indeed it has never been better.

Wendell Mottley, Chairman

March 2015
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i am privileged to present my report on the 

Corporation’s financial results and investment 

performance of its unit schemes and mutual 

funds for the year ended December 31, 2014.

Economic and Capital Market Background

trinidad and tobago’s GDP is forecasted 

to have grown marginally in the vicinity of 

0.5 – 1.0 percent in 2014, driven mainly by 

sustained growth in the non-energy sector. 

in the energy sector, performance was 

hampered by a series of stoppages in natural 

gas production as well as declines in the 

refining, exploration and production sectors. 

Private sector credit continued to strengthen, 

growing by 6.5 percent for the first three 

quarters of 2014. this represented an 

improvement of 2.8 percent over the same 

period in the previous year. Commercial 

lending led the charge as banks’ credit growth 

was 7.0 percent for the first three quarters of 

2014; compared with 4.6 percent in the same 

period for the previous year. Real growth in 

estate Mortgage loans experienced a decline 

over the review period; but are seemingly still 

robust, remaining in double digit territory. 

inflationary pressures picked up during 

the third quarter of 2014 driven mainly by 

higher food prices and increased consumer 

spending. For the nine months ended 

September 2014, inflation was 7.8 percent 

after having ended 2013 at 5.6 percent. excess 

liquidity in the financial system was tt$ 6.93 

billion as at the end of December 2013. By 

December’s end 2014, the figure decreased to 

tt$ 5.92 billion as the Central Bank continued 

its operations aimed at reining in the threat of 

accelerating inflation.  

During 2014, the Central Bank of trinidad and 

tobago raised its benchmark repo rate by 

50 basis points to 3.25 percent, in an effort 

to combat inflation as well as to tackle the 

differential in uS and tt benchmark interest 

rates. the trinidad and tobago Composite 

index fell 2.88 percent for 2014 while the All 

t&t index recorded a marginal increase of 

0.53 percent. Regionally, the Jamaican stock 

market fell by 5.31 percent and the Barbados 

stock market recorded a sharp decline of 

28.65 percent for the same review period.

in terms of the global economy, growth 

is expected to have been less robust than 

previously expected earlier last year. GDP is 

forecasted to be 3.3 percent for 2014. Generally, 

advanced economies are expected to have 

provided the supporting impetus for growth, 

but there is a divergence in the economic 

performances of various territories in this 

segment. For instance, the GDP of the united 

States is expected to grow by 2.4 percent while 

Japan is expected to advance just 0.1 percent. 

Fiscal problems in the euro Zone are expected 

to have continued to hamper growth for the 

region. notwithstanding, lower oil prices are 

expected to be beneficial to global growth 

going forward.

Dear fellow unit holders,
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the uS Federal Reserve ended its Quantitative 

easing (Qe) Program in october 2014. the 

move did not have a substantial negative 

effect on the main stock indices which 

ended the year in positive territory.  the uS 

S&P index advanced 11.39 percent while the 

Dow Jones industrial Average index returned 

7.52 percent. Conversely, the uS fixed income 

benchmark, the ten Year treasury fell 28.30 

percent to a yield of 2.19 percent at the end 

of December, 2014.  

Strategic Direction  
Value Creation: Progress

in 2014, we maintained our drive to execute 

our current five-year strategic plan (2011-

2015),  focusing on creating increased value 

for our unit holders. Despite challenging 

interest rate and foreign exchange 

environments during 2014, we have made 

great strides in our enterprise strategies.

CLIENT VALUE & INVESTMENT RETURNS 

Based on our strategic asset allocation to cash, 

we have reduced the excess cash on hand in 

the Funds by over 72% from tt$2.67 billion 

at the beginning of the year, to tt$734M by 

December 31st, 2014. the Corporation also 

sourced new investment opportunities, by 

pioneering the formation of an investment 

Consortium with national insurance Board 

(niBtt) and national enterprises limited 

(nel), to obtain previously unattainable 

assets in the downstream energy sector 

with a superior dividend yield.  Further, 

not only have we invested in Customer 

Service training for all frontline staff but also 

launched our utC Corporate Fund  to provide 

greater investment options to institutional 

clients. of significance too, we successfully 

revised select provisions of our Act to enable 

greater inclusion of high quality, government 

guaranteed investment securities.

GOVERNANCE & RISK MANAGEMENT 

We moved to enhance  our  Business  

Continuity Planning and readiness and 

introduced Risk Control Self-Assessments 

across the entire enterprise.  in addition, 

we strengthened our information and 

Communications technology (iCt) 

infrastructure and equipment, achieving 

99.18% system uptime. A milestone 

achievement was leading the mutual fund 

industry by becoming the first mutual fund 

company to be jointly regulated by the 

Central Bank of trinidad and tobago and the 

trinidad and tobago Securities exchange 

Commission.

PEOPLE & TALENT DEVELOPMENT 

With a quest for excellence, we launched our 

new Performance Management System to 

ensure timely and continuous performance 

assessment and staff development. We 

established an “i am ttutC” program for 

all employees designed to encourage staff 

to live utC’s shared values and promote 

positive behavior. With the future in mind, 

we introduced a formal Succession Planning 

initiative to retain talent and develop future 

leaders of the Corporation and invested in 

staff training and development in managerial, 

technical and service areas to enhance our 

customer experience.

 INNOVATION, PRODUCTIVITY & 

CONTROL 

We brought greater operational efficiencies 

to the Corporation by removing low value 

processes and introduced Service level 

Agreements across the organization to 

ensure consistent service delivery across 

departments. to enhance productivity and 

ensure a stronger control environment 

we invested in Anti-Money laundering 

technology (Caseware) and Human Capital 

Development software (SAP Success 

Factors). in addition, we pursued legislative 

amendments that would enable greater 

scope for investments and allow for more 

innovation in products and services for unit 

holders in 2015 and beyond. to achieve 

value creation throughout the procurement 

process we implemented a new Supply  Chain 

Management/Procurement Policy.  We have 

also initiated a unitholder register  “clean-

up” exercise and a document management 

enhancement initiative that allows us to 

meet regulatory and statutory requirements 

and improve the accuracy of information in 

our unit holder database.
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Financial Performance Highlights

in keeping with our overarching commitment 

to conform to international best practices 

and promote transparency in our financial 

reporting, amendments have been made 

to match international financial reporting 

standards (iFRS), effective January 1, 2014. the 

Group adopted iAS 16 – Property, Plant and 

equipment, iAS 38 – intangible Assets and iAS 

32 offsetting Financial Assets and Financial 

liabilities and iAS 39 novation of Derivatives 

and Continuation of Hedge Accounting. We 

note that, while necessary, these adoptions 

have had little material impact on the 

format in which our Consolidated Financial 

Statements are presented. 

the following are some of the main highlights 

of our FY 2014 financial performance: 

• net investment income from Group 

operations declined by tt$13 million to 

tt$23 million by December 2014 or a 

decrease of 36.08 percent driven mainly by 

a contraction in fee and interest income, 

in keeping with the trends of the wider 

economic environment.

•  the Corporation’s Retained income grew 

by 13.67 percent from tt$ 946 million to 

tt$1.076 billion.

• the Corporation’s total asset base remained 

relatively stable at tt $21.5 billion from 

tt$21.7 billion, as we continued with our 

strategy to reduce the negative cost of 

carry on our cash balances.

• the aggregate fund-size of the mutual 

funds increased by 1.38 percent in 2014 

to tt$19.8 billion from tt$19.5 billion a 

year ago.

• total income generated by our mutual 

funds in 2014 was tt$568 million, a 

decline from the 2013 position of tt$665 

million, shrinking 14.56 percent or tt$97 

million. this is a result of the prolonged 

low interest rate environment and lower 

realized capital gains. 

• tt$165.6 million of asset impairments were 

recognized in the income Statement for 

2014, up minimally from tt$165.4 million 

a year ago.  these impairments reflected 

mostly unrealized marked to market 

reductions in some of our financial assets 

and reflect the prudent treatment required 

by financial reporting standards.

• total expenses from continuing operations 

incurred (excluding finance charges, 

guarantee provisions and taxation) rose 

minimally by 0.6 percent or from tt$426 

million to tt$428 million during the year, 

led mainly by an increase of tt$14 million 

in Administrative expenses which was 

offset by numerous operational efficiency 

efforts across the Corporation. 

• As interest rates remained low, the 

aggregate distributions to unit holders 

by the Funds declined 27.9 percent to 

tt$151.7 million from tt$210 million.  

• the customer base was close to 586, 000 

at the end of 2014 reflecting a 1.8 percent 

growth from 575,602 in 2013. 

Fund Performance

our overall fund size for the locally domiciled 

funds for the year ended 31 December, 2014 

increased by 1.25 percent to close the year 

at tt$19.5 billion, in comparison to tt$19.26 

billion as at 31 December 2013. the north 

American Fund similarly increased in size 

moving from net growth of uS$4.4 million 

(tt$28.2 million) in 2013 to net growth of 

uS$5.8 million (tt$37 million) in 2014. 

the five (5) Funds under review are (i) the 

tt Dollar income Fund, (ii) the uS Dollar 

income Fund (iii) Growth & income Fund 

(iv) universal Retirement Fund and (v) the 

north American Fund. All five (5) of the Funds 

generated positive returns for investors in 

2014. notwithstanding challenging returns 

on the local stock market, favorable uS and 

global equity market performances led to our 
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equity and balanced funds posting higher 

returns relative to our fixed income funds, 

which continued to be negatively impacted 

by the low interest rate environment locally 

and abroad.

TT DOLLAR INCOME FUND

the tt Dollar income Fund’s fund-size 

declined minimally by 1.76 percent from 

tt$10.7 billion to tt$10.5 billion, as at the 

end of December 2014,  largely as a result 

of a larger strategic initiative to reduce the 

negative ‘cost of carry’ on the fund’s often 

significant cash balances. total income 

generated from the Fund declined by 5.7 

percent to tt$294 million from tt$312 million 

during 2014 owing to the low interest rate 

environment and lower reinvestment interest 

rates. the Fund distributed tt$99 million in 

2014,  down 20.8 percent from distributions 

of tt$125 million in 2013. the net return to 

unit holders fell to 0.92 percent in 2014 from 

1.11 percent in 2013.  

US DOLLAR INCOME FUND

As at year-end 2014, the uS Dollar income 

Fund stood at uS$635.6 million (approx. 

tt$4.1 billion), up 3.9 percent relative to its 

2013 fund size of uS$611.5 million (approx. 

tt$3.9 billion). the Fund continued to enjoy 

significantly higher subscriptions than many 

of the other funds for 2014. 

Year on year comparisons illustrate that the 

Fund’s Gross Return has improved, moving 

from 2.29 percent in 2013, upward to 2.51 

percent in 2014. the improved performance 

is largely afforded to strategic bond 

investments, in keeping with the overall 

portfolio strategy. 

GROWTH & INCOME FUND

the fund size of the Growth & income Fund at 

December 31, 2014 was tt$4.7 billion, up 5.6 

percent from tt$4.5 billion on 31 December 

2013. the increase in fund size was driven 

by tt$69 million in capital appreciation and 

tt$182 million in net sales growth. As at 

December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively, 

the bid price appreciated to tt$16.99 per 

unit, versus tt$16.78 in the prior year. 

total income generated by the Fund declined 

by 17.5 percent from tt$193 million (2013) to 

tt$159.6 million (2014).  on a positive note, 

the Fund reduced its impairment charge 

by tt$30 million in comparison to 2013 

(tt$81 million), as efforts to streamline the 

portfolio continued. in this vein, the Growth 

and income Fund paid $16.5 million to its 

unit holders in its June 2014 and December 

2014 distributions, down from $31.3 million 

in 2013. As of December 31, 2014 the asset 

allocation was 41 percent domestic and 

regional equities, 22 percent international 

equities, 26 percent bonds and 11 percent 

cash & cash equivalents.

UNIVERSAL RETIREMENT FUND

the fund size of the universal Retirement 

Fund (uRF) increased 6.4 percent from 

tt$257.35 million to tt$274 million year on 

year to 2014. the uRF recorded tt$5 million 

in unrealized capital appreciation and tt$12 

million in net sales for 2014. the Fund’s net 

Asset value (nAv) appreciated to tt$40.56 at 

the end of 2014 from tt$39.70 in 2013. total 

income declined by 38.6 percent year-over-

year from tt$16.2 million to tt$9.9 million.   

the Fund‘s gross return as at December 2014 

was 4.39 percent. net portfolio returns were 

down to 2.34 percent in 2014, from 11.87 

percent in 2013. Management continues 

to address this downturn by divesting the 

portfolio of select underperforming local 

equity securities. the portfolio comprised 

38 percent domestic and regional equities, 

24 percent international equities, 23 percent 

bonds, and 15 percent cash at the end of 

2014.

UTC NORTH AMERICAN FUND

the utC north American Fund fund-size 

grew by 16.4 percent during 2014 from                  

uS$35.5 million (tt$226 million) to uS$41.4 

million (tt$263 million). the net Asset value 

(nAv) as at December 31, 2014 increased 

to uS$11.77 per share, up from uS$10.84 a 

year ago.  the Fund produced a net return to 

investors of 8.58 percent compared to 14.68 
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percent in 2013. this was predominantly due 

to a fall in net realized gains on equities and a 

decrease in generated interest income on the 

bond portfolio, due to the low interest rate 

environment in the uS. By the end of 2014, 

the nAF’s asset allocation was: 80 percent 

equities, 15 percent bonds, and 5 percent 

cash and cash equivalents.

Corporate Social Responsibility

the utC continues to focus on strengthening 

the linkage between our organization and 

the communities we serve. our hands-on 

approach is supported by active campaigning 

for worthy causes. our work on the ground as 

well as with non-Governmental organizations 

(nGos) has facilitated support of the arts, 

sport, culture, education and other important 

drivers of development.  team members are 

invested in creating opportunities for the 

youth in our communities, and have been 

actively participating in initiatives aimed at 

engaging children in the nascent stages of 

their development. 

A tangible demonstration was strong support 

from our staff on the national Day of Caring 

with projects touching all parts of the country.  

From environmental initiatives, improving 

infrastructure to schools and engaging 

in academic development, we made a 

lasting impact on our communities.   And in 

commemoration of the Corporation’s thirty 

second anniversary, staff members rallied to 

support a food hamper drive for Kids in need 

of Direction (KinD), an organization focused 

on assisting the less fortunate and providing 

developmental programs to “at risk” children 

in the community.

We continue to work with the national 

Association of Down Syndrome, the Blood 

Bank, St Dominic’s Children’s Home and the 

national Centre for Persons with Disabilities, 

among others, all aimed at addressing the 

diverse social needs of our nation.  We inspire 

hope through meaningful partnerships and 

continue to engage by building bridges to 

make our country a better place. 

Appreciation 

My sincerest thanks to the Chairman of 

the Board and all other Board members for 

the unwavering support and key insight 

they have provided over the year. the 

financial environment locally, regionally and 

internationally continues to be a challenging 

one that we navigate as a team. the executive 

team, management and staff of the utC 

continue to deliver outstanding strategic 

support. Furthermore, their commitment 

to service and excellence has become a 

hallmark of the organization’s brand.

of course, it is most important that i pay 

tribute to our unit holders. notwithstanding 

Sincerely

Ian P. Chinapoo

executive Director

March 2015

challenges in the local, regional and global 

financial environments, your support of and 

belief in the trinidad and tobago unit trust 

Corporation has remained resolute. in turn, 

we remain committed to our vision which is 

to serve you, and which echoes in our Mission 

Statement “enhancing customer wealth by 

providing superior financial services in a 

caring and cost effective manner.” We look 

forward to a new financial year, ripe with 

possibilities for growth and opportunity, to 

expand our business so that we can reap the 

rewards that will best benefit you.  
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utC toWARDS A 
GReAteR GooD

in a world of instant gratification, the trinidad and tobago unit 

trust Corporation has been an agent of long term positive social 

change for more than thirty years. We believe that our community 

outreach activities can improve and enhance lives through 

sports, art and culture, education, health and well-being.

Members of Sophia House and St. Jude’s Home  
were treated to a day at the movies

A staff member has the attention of this student during a 
recycling project



Members of the St. Dominic’s Children’s Home enjoyed 
their day at the Emperor Valley Zoo

A staff member donates blood  
to the Blood Bank

UTC Executive Director Ian Chinapoo leads Team UTC   
during the Carifin Games

Vacation interns during a discussion hosted by the  
Human Resources Department

Children from the National Association for Down Syndrome are all 
smiles as they stike a pose with this staff member

School supplies to assist children with their 
educational needs
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numerous initiatives undertaken allow our staff the opportunity to inspire hope in the 

wider community by giving freely of their time, energy and talents. through sweat equity 

we are able to touch people’s lives. We are proud of our contribution and continue to 

engage through social impact partnerships that leave an enduring legacy.

inspiring Hope

Staff are all smiles after feeling the burn from supporting   
a 5K Run for Cancer



The environment is brought into focus with the clean-up  
at Hart’s Cut Bay, Chaguaramas

Team UTC join forces to paint the wall of 
Richmond St. Boys Anglican  

on the National Day of Caring

Children from the Lady Hochoy Home display their costumes at their Easter Bonnet Parade

UTC Executive Director presents food 
hampers to Melissa Jiminez of Kids In 

Need of Direction (KIND)

Donation made to the Trinidad and  
Tobago Red Cross Society
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our goal is to transform the unlimited potential of the people of trinidad and tobago into tangible 

benefits by igniting change and creating lasting value. We have committed our intentions, energy 

and actions to making our country a better place. We are passionate about playing a meaningful 

role by building bridges and cultivating relationships that will endure. 

Building Bridges 

Dancers go through their motions during Divali celebrations  
at the Chaguanas Investment Centre

Staff member helps with decorating coin banks at the 
National Association for Down Syndrome
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our SeA Scholarship programme, established in 1996, continues to provide 

assistance to our youth who have the academic brilliance and potential but 

find themselves at a disadvantage due to financially challenging circumstances.  

the programme is an impactful commitment to our students and a recognition 

of our role in the educational system.

over the seven year academic period, awardees receive vouchers annually 

that go towards the purchase of books and relevant school supplies.  the 

programme started with two students in 1996 and at the end of 2014 we had 

126, a milestone achievement for us all at the unit trust Corporation.

in order to provide additional support to the scholars, we implemented a 

“Strategies 4 Success” workshop, designed to equip students with the necessary 

tools to manage personal and social challenges.  this takes a holistic view of 

their development and sensitizes our scholars to the ingredients needed for 

assuming leadership roles in the future.

in 2008, the educational initiative was expanded to tertiary level education to 

lend further support to building a platform for students to reach their academic 

potential.  Four years later, a parent workshop aimed at equipping parents with 

the tools to support their children throughout their secondary school lives, 

was established.

For all the students who 
we support, we believe in 

them. We do this programme 
because of that belief. Giving 

the kids a chance that they 
may not have had otherwise 
opens the runway to a myrid 
of possibilities, and we are 

very proud to have been able 
to do that. In this programme, 

we are focused on enabling 
these young people to 

achieve. By expressing our 
support and showing them 

that they can, I believe 
what that builds is hope in 
themselves and no one can 

take that from you.
executive Director, ian Chinapoo

UTC SEA SCHOLARSHIP 
PROGRAMME

Executive Director, Ian Chinapoo stands proudly 
with the 2014 group of SEA Scholars

(scan me)
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“I remember when that scholarship fund came 

in from the Unit Trust Corporation, it was the 

most books I had ever seen probably in my life,”  

Bryan recalls. 

“When you have a dream and so many people 

that believe in you, like a great institution such 

as the Unit Trust Corpration, I felt empowered, 

I felt like I could have conquered it all,” he says 

with a voice brimming with confidence.

“Sometimes in life your greatest obstacle can 

be your greatest blessing,” Rynessa says with 

perspective beyond her years.

 “As a child I couldn’t envision the possibilities. 

“For me, the Unit Trust was key in opening this 

door to all of my possibilities, they have been 

with me from inception.   

“With the UTC I had that moral support, that 

psychological support and emotional support, I 

take it with me everywhere.”   

“The UTC sholarship allowed me to reach where 

I am today.  Haman says of his educational 

achievements.

“To have someone external to your family have 

that interest in you, gives you a sense of hope, 

that you can achieve something,” he said. “They 

see something in you that you can build on 

and succeed in life.” 

believe
BRYAN JORDAN,  

ASPiRinG Pilot

Bryan  was awarded the utC SeA 

Scholarship in 2009 after passing for 

Bishops’ High School, tobago. He went 

on to complete the CSeC examinations 

in ten subjects and is currently 

pursuing Geography, Physics and Art 

at CAPe level. Bryan was awarded 

the Most outstanding Student in 

geography, leadership, discipline and 

civic mindedness and won an award 

for excellence in Art, Spanish  and 

Geography. He is passionate about Art 

and will complete CAPe in 2016.

RYNESSA CUTTING,  

ASPiRinG neWS AnCHoR

Rynessa was awarded the utC SeA 

Scholarship in 2002 after passing for 

Bishop Anstey High School, Port of 

Spain. She went on to complete the 

CxC examinations in eight subjects 

and was awarded an open Scholarship 

for languages after completing CAPe 

in 2009. Rynessa later attended the 

university of tampa, Florida where she 

graduated with a Bachelor of Arts in 

Communication. She is following her 

dream and is  currently working as a 

Broadcast Assistant at CCn tv6.

HAMAN JAROO,  

Civil enGineeR

Haman Jaroo was awarded the utC 

SeA Scholarship in 1998 after passing 

for Presentation College, San Fernando. 

He went on to complete the CxC 

examinations in ten subjects. At 

GCe Advanced levels, he excelled in 

Mathematics, Chemistry, Physics and 

General Paper.  it paved the way for 

attendance at the university of the 

West indies, where he graduated with 

First Class Honours in Civil engineering.  

Following this, he was awarded a 

government  scholarship to pursue 

a Master of Science, Construction 

Management, and graduated with 

Distinction. He currently works at the 

Ministry of Works and infrastructure.

possibility hope
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 Restated
Notes 31-Dec-14 31-Dec-13

$ ‘000 $ ‘000

ASSETS

Cash and Cash equivalents 3  2,398,439  4,374,680

Receivables  163,734  170,904

Prepayments and other Assets  19,030  17,121

investment Securities 4  18,721,245  17,016,563

Property, Plant and equipment 5  163,460  164,273

intangible Assets 6  2,554  5,996

TOTAL ASSETS  21,468,462  21,749,537

LIABILITIES

Accounts Payable and Short term liabilities  60,762  53,420

Financial instruments 7  573,190  1,175,544

Distribution Payable  35,381  27,128

Deferred income tax liability 9  6,964  5,513

Pension and other Post-retirement liabilities 10  11,734  12,997

Guarantee Pricing liability 11  3,723  5,043

net Assets Attributable to non-group interests 12  19,536,894  19,314,323

other liabilities  3,574  8,954

TOTAL LIABILITIES  20,232,222  20,602,922

EQUITY 

Statutory Reserves 13  5,050  5,050

Revaluation Reserve 14  155,234  194,991

Retained income  1,075,956  946,574

 1,236,240  1,146,615

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY  21,468,462  21,749,537

As at 31 December, 2014
Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago dollarsCONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 

Chairman  Executive Director

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Restated

31-Dec-14 31-Dec-13

Notes $ ‘000 $ ‘000

CONTINUING OPERATIONS

INCOME

Investment Income - 15, 16

    Growth & income Fund  159,603  193,366

    tt$ income Fund  293,945  311,825

    universal Retirement Fund  9,970  16,244

    uS$ income Fund  100,707  120,098

net investment income - Group operations 16  23,014  36,009

Realized Gains Re-classified from equity 17  78,034  55,016

initial Charge  11,952  10,790

other income  12,864  16,244

Total Income  690,089  759,592

EXPENSES

Commissions  (17,529)  (18,470)

impairment 18  (165,602)  (165,419)

Administrative 19  (226,206)  (212,394)

Depreciation and Amortisation  (18,751)  (25,111)

Sinking Fund expense  -  (4,269)

Total Expenses  (428,088)  (425,663)

Net Income before Finance & Guarantee Charges  262,001  333,929

Finance Charges 20  (22)  (73)

Guarantee Pricing Provision 11  (419)  5,160

Net Income after Finance Charges & Guarantee Charges  261,560  339,016

Distributions to non-group interest 25  (146,726)  (198,624)

transfer from non-group interest to Reserves 33,34,36  (15,852)  (22,941)

income Capitalized by non-group interest 35  (1,951)  (8,539)

net loss Attributable to non-group interest  40,131  9,976

Net Income from Continuing Operations before Taxation  137,162  118,888

taxation 8  (9,194)  (10,374)

Net Income from Continuing Operations after Taxation  127,968  108,514

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS 

net Gain from Discontinued operations 26 2  5,874

Net Income for the year  127,970  114,388

For the year ended 31 December, 2014
Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago dollarsCONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Restated

31-Dec-14 31-Dec-13

Notes $ ‘000 $ ‘000

Net Income for the year  127,970  114,388

Other Comprehensive Income: 

Amounts that may be transferred to Profit or Loss in the future:

Revaluation of Available-for-Sale Financial Assets 14  15,221  (10,461)

exchange Differences on translating Foreign operations 14  (54,275)  (48,297)

Amounts that will never be transferred to Profit or Loss in the future:

Re-measurements of Pension and other Post Retirement liabilities 10  (703) 311

Other Comprehensive Loss for the year  (39,757)  (58,447)

Total Comprehensive Income for the year  88,213  55,941

For the year ended 31 December, 2014
Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago dollarsCONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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For the year ended 31 December, 2014
Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago dollarsCONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Statutory  
Reserves

Revaluation 
Reserve

Retained 
Income

Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Balance as at 1 January, 2014  5,050  194,991  946,574  1,146,615

total Comprehensive income for the year  -  (39,757)  127,970  88,213

Adjustment for SPC Cayman  -  -  1,412  1,412

Balance  as at 31 December, 2014  5,050  155,234  1,075,956  1,236,240

Balance  as at 1 January, 2013  5,050  253,438  832,186  1,090,674

 - 

total Comprehensive income for the year  -  (58,447)  114,388  55,941

 - 

Balance  as at 31 December, 2013 (Restated)  5,050  194,991  946,574  1,146,615

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Restated
31-Dec-14 31-Dec-13

$ ‘000 $ ‘000

OPERATING ACTIVITIES

net income before taxation  137,162  118,888

Adjustment to reconcile net income to net cash and cash equivalents
     from operating activities:

net income Attributable to non-group interests  124,398  220,128
Depreciation and Amortisation  18,751  25,111
impairment - non-financial Assets  391  7,339
impairment - Financial Assets  165,602  165,419
(Gain)/loss on sale of Property, Plant and equipment  (139)  103
Gain - Discontinued operations  2  6,190

 446,167  543,178
Movements in Working Capital
Decrease in Receivables  7,169  65,600
increase in Prepayments and other Assets  (2,300)  (807)
increase/(Decrease) in Accounts Payable and liabilities  3,413  (3,700)
taxation paid  (9,194)  (10,374)
Decrease in Sinking Fund liability  -  (13,587)
increase/(Decrease) in Distribution liability  8,252  (46,308)
Decrease in Guarantee Pricing liability  (1,320)  (11,794)
Decrease in Pension and other Post Retirement liabilities  (559)  (1,049)
net cash used in operating activities of discontinued operations  -  (976)

Net Cash Flow From Operating Activities  451,628  520,183

INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Purchase of Property, Plant and equipment  (12,802)  (7,315)
Proceeds from Disposal of Property, Plant and equipment  280  723
Purchase of intangible Assets  (1,833)  (617)
Purchase of investment Securities  (6,127,277)  (9,324,337)
Proceeds from Disposal of investments  4,300,230  7,409,929
net cash flow from investing activities of discontinued operations  -  67,595

Net Cash used In Investing Activities  (1,841,402)  (1,854,022)

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Subscriptions from non-group interests  2,690,372  3,792,352
Redemptions by non-group interests  (2,527,805)  (4,724,061)
Financial instruments  (602,354)  (403,617)
Distribution Payments to non-group interests  (146,726)  (198,624)
interest earned on Reserve Assets  1,028  933
Guarantee Reserve Payment by investment Funds  (1,000)  (1,000)
net cash used in financing activities of discontinued operations  -  (71,824)

Net Cash used in Financing Activities  (586,485)  (1,605,841)

translation Adjustment 18   5,125

NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS  (1,976,241)  (2,934,555)

Cash and Cash equivalents at beginning of year  4,374,680  7,309,235

Cash and Cash equivalents at end of year  2,398,439  4,374,680

For the year ended 31 December, 2014
Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago dollarsCONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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1. INCORPORATION AND PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Trinidad and Tobago Unit Trust Corporation (the Corporation) was established by the Unit Trust Corporation of Trinidad and Tobago 

Act (the Act), Chapter 83:03 of the Laws of the Republic of Trinidad and Tobago, inter alia, to provide facilities for members of the public to 

invest in shares and securities approved by the Board of the Corporation.

The Corporation’s registered office is UTC Financial Centre, 82 Independence Square, Port of Spain.

The Finance Act of 1997 permitted expansion of the Corporation’s scope of business to include other financial services, such as merchant 

banking, trustee and card services.

The Corporation controlled eleven (11) entities during 2014 (2013: 11).

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

the principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these Consolidated Financial Statements (the Financial Statements) are set out 

below. these policies have been consistently applied to all years presented, unless otherwise stated.

a) Basis of Preparation

i. the Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with international Financial Reporting Standards (iFRS) and the Act 

under the historical cost convention, except for certain financial instruments, which are measured at fair value. the accounting 

policies in all material respects conform to iFRS.

ii. Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

iii. Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset, or paid to transfer a liability, in an orderly transaction between 

market participants at the measurement date.

iv. these Financial Statements are presented in trinidad and tobago dollars (ttD), which is the functional currency of the 

Corporation. All financial information presented in ttD has been rounded to the nearest thousand except where otherwise 

indicated. 

v. the preparation of the Financial Statements in accordance with iFRS requires management to make judgments, estimates 

and assumptions. Management reviews these judgments, estimates and underlying assumptions on a regular basis. Revisions 

to accounting estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimates are revised and in any future periods affected. 

Management has exercised significant judgment in estimating the following:

(a) impairment charges in respect of fixed assets, intangible assets and investment securities;

(b) the liability under the guarantee offered to unit holders in the Growth and income Fund; and

(c) the fair value of financial assets categorized as level 3. (See note 2e).

b) Changes in Accounting Policies 

i. New accounting standards, amendments to accounting standards and interpretations adopted by the Group

the Group adopted the following improvements and amendments to iFRSs on 1 January, 2014, which are relevant to its 

operations:

•	 Amendments to IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment and IAS 38 Intangible Assets (effective 1 January 2016).  

the amendments:

(a) clarify that a revenue-based method is not an appropriate basis for the calculation of depreciation for property, 

plant and equipment. A revenue-based method reflects the pattern of generating economic benefits that arise 

from the operations of the business of which the asset is a part, rather than the consumption pattern of the 

asset’s economic benefits; and
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(b) introduce a presumption that a revenue-based amortization method for intangible assets is inappropriate.  the 

presumption however, can be rebutted if the intangible asset is expressed as a measure of revenue and it can be 

demonstrated that the revenue and the consumption of economic benefits are highly correlated.

early adoption of these amendments had no impact on these Financial Statements.  

•	 IAS 32 – Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities (effective 1 January 2014): the amendment clarifies 

the meaning of certain terms with respect to the qualifying criteria for off-setting financial assets and liabilities. it 

specifies that a financial asset and a financial liability should be offset and the net amount reported when, and only 

when, an entity has a legally enforceable right to set off the amounts and intends to either settle on a net basis, or to 

realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. Adoption of the amendment had no impact on the Financial 

Statements.

•	 IAS 36 Recoverable Amounts Disclosures for Non-Financial Assets (effective 1 January 2014): the amendment 

introduces a requirement to disclose the discount rate used when computing impairment (or impairment reversals) 

of non-financial assets where the recoverable amount (based on fair value less costs of disposal) is determined using 

the present value technique. Adoption of this amendment had no impact on these Financial Statements. 

ii. Standards and Interpretations in issue, not yet effective and not early adopted

there are new iFRSs and amendments to iFRSs that the Group did not early adopt in 2014. these new standards and amendments 

were not applied in the preparation of these Financial Statements. the standards and amendments are:

•	 IFRS 9 - Financial Instruments: iFRS 9, was issued in July, 2014 and is mandatory for annual periods beginning on or after 1 

January 2018 with early adoption permitted. iFRS 9 replaces iAS 39 Financial instruments – Recognition and Measurement. 

Adoption of iFRS 9 will primarily impact the classification and measurement of the Group’s financial assets.  

•	 IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers: iFRS 15 was issued on May 28 2014 and supersedes iAS 18 ‘Revenue’, 

iAS 11 ‘Construction Contracts’ and a number of revenue-related interpretations. the standard establishes principles for 

reporting the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from an entity’s contracts with 

customers. iFRS 15 is mandatory for annual Financial Statements beginning on or after 1 January 2017.

c) Basis of Consolidation

the Financial Statements comprise the unconsolidated Financial Statements of the Corporation, the Financial Statements of the 

locally domiciled Funds and the incorporated subsidiaries of the Corporation drawn up as at 31 December, 2014. Management 

concluded that, for purposes of iFRS 10, its relationship with the locally domiciled Funds was that of a principal rather than that 

of an agent.  Management’s conclusion was based primarily on its exposure to significant variability of returns as a result of its 

commitment to support the Funds.

As a principal under iFRS 10, the Corporation ‘controls’ the Funds which therefore must be consolidated with the Corporation in its 

Consolidated Financial Statements.

the Corporation reassesses at each reporting period whether or not it controls the entities with which it is involved using the control 

criteria established in iFRS 10. it concludes that it controls an entity if, and only if, after considering all the circumstances, it forms the 

view inter alia that:

i. it has power over the entity;

ii. it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the entity; and

iii. it has the ability to use its power to affect its returns from the entity.

Consolidation of an entity begins when the Corporation obtains control over the entity and ceases when the Corporation loses 

control of the entity. the income and expenses of an entity acquired during the year are included in the Consolidated Statement of 

Profit or loss and other Comprehensive income from the date the Corporation gains control until the date the Corporation ceases 

to control the entity.

2) Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

 b) Changes in Accounting Policies  (continued)
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the line item ‘net Assets Attributable to non-group interest’ represents the portion of the profit and net assets not owned, directly 

or indirectly, by either the Corporation or another Group entity.  iAS 32: AG 29 requires that such non-group interests be recognized 

as a liability in the Consolidated Financial Statements as the units/shares represent obligations to deliver cash on presentation for 

redemption.

All material intra-group transactions and accounts have been eliminated in full in preparing these Financial Statements. 

the financial year end of the Group is 31 December. the accounting policies of each Group entity is consistent with those of the 

Group. 

d) Investment Securities

the Group recognizes financial assets and liabilities when it becomes party to the contractual obligations of the instrument.  the 

Group derecognizes a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expires or where the Group 

has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another party.  Group financial liabilities are 

derecognized when the obligation under the liability is discharged, cancelled or has expired.

the Group classifies its financial assets on initial recognition into the following categories: available-for-sale, held-to-maturity and 

loans and receivables. the classification depends on the purpose for which the financial assets were acquired. 

investment securities intended to be held for an indefinite period of time, but which may be sold in response to liquidity requirements 

or market conditions, are classified as available-for-sale. Available-for-sale investments are carried at fair value.

un-realized gains and losses from changes in the fair value of investments classified as available-for-sale are recognized in equity. 

When available-for-sale financial assets are disposed of or are impaired, the related fair value adjustments are re-classified to the 

Consolidated Statement of Profit or loss. 

investment securities with fixed maturities that management has the intent and ability to hold to maturity are classified as held-to-

maturity. Held-to-maturity investments are carried at amortized cost, less adjustments for impairment.

investment securities with fixed and determinable payments, but which are not quoted in an active market, are classified as loans 

and receivables. loans and receivables are carried at amortized cost, using the effective interest method. the effective interest 

method uses the effective interest rate to recognize interest income over the life of a debt instrument. the effective interest rate is 

the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts for the life of the debt instrument to the net carrying amount on initial 

recognition.  impairment adjustments are made to the amortized cost of loans and receivables where necessary.

Purchases and sales of equity investments are recognized at the trade date. Purchases and sales of all other investment securities are 

recognized on the settlement date.

e) Fair Value Estimation - Investment Securities

Financial assets traded in active markets

the fair value of financial assets traded in active markets is based on quoted prices at the close of trading on the reporting date.  

An active market is a market in which transactions for the asset take place with sufficient frequency and volume to provide pricing 

information on an ongoing basis. Where the last day of trading is not the reporting date and significant movements in prices occur 

subsequent to the close of trading and before the reporting date, valuation techniques are used to determine the fair value.

the Group had no traded financial liabilities at the reporting date.

Financial assets and liabilities not traded in an active market

the fair value of financial assets and liabilities that are not traded in an active market is determined by using valuation techniques 

commonly used by market participants including: discounted cash flow analysis and reference to recent comparable arm’s length 

transactions.  in determining the fair value, the Group makes assumptions that are based on market conditions existing at the 

reporting date and makes the maximum use of market inputs relying as little as possible on entity-specific inputs.

2) Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

 c) Basis of Consolidation  (continued)
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Financial assets and liabilities with no active market

For financial assets and liabilities with no active market, the Group uses internally developed models which are based on standard 

valuation methods and techniques generally recognized within the finance industry. valuation models are used primarily to value 

unlisted equity, debt securities and other debt instruments for which markets were, or have been, inactive during the financial year.  

Some of the inputs to these models are not market observable.

the output of a model is always an estimate or approximation of a value that cannot be determined with certainty.  valuation 

techniques employed may not fully reflect all factors relevant to the positions held by the Group.  valuations are therefore adjusted, 

where appropriate, to allow for additional factors including model risk, liquidity risk and counterparty risk.

Receivables, payables and short-term liabilities

the carrying value less impairment provisions of receivables and payables are assumed to approximate their fair values.  the carrying 

value of short-term financial liabilities are assumed to approximate their fair value also.

Fair value hierarchy

Fair value measurements of securities are categorized into three levels based on the degree to which the fair value measurement 

inputs are observable.  the three levels are:

•	 Level 1.  level 1 valuation inputs are unadjusted quoted prices for identical assets and liabilities in active markets that the 

entity can access at the measurement date.

•	 Level 2. level 2 valuation inputs exclude level 1 inputs but are inputs that are observable for the asset or liability either 

directly or indirectly. 

•	 Level 3.  level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

the level in the fair value hierarchy to which fair value measurements are assigned is determined by the lowest level input that is 

significant to the fair value measurement in its entirety.  thus, where a fair value measurement uses observable inputs that require 

significant adjustment based on unobservable inputs, it is classified as level 3.

the Group considers observable data to be market data that is readily available, regularly distributed or updated, reliable and 

verifiable, not proprietary and provided by independent sources that are actively involved in the relevant market.

f) Impairment of Financial Assets

Assets carried at amortized cost

the Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or group of financial assets 

carried at amortized cost, is impaired. A financial asset or group of financial assets is considered impaired and impairment losses are 

recognized if and only if:-

i. there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that occurred subsequent to initial 

recognition of the asset (a ‘loss event’); and

ii. the impact on the future cash flows as a result of the loss event can be reliably estimated.

the criteria used by the Group to determine whether there has been a loss event include evidence that:-

(a) the issuer, or obligor, is in significant financial difficulty;

(b) there has been a breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in interest payments or principal re-payment 

by the issuer or obligor;

(c) the issuer’s lender, for economic or legal reasons relating to the issuer’s financial difficulty, has granted to the issuer a 

concession that the lender would not otherwise consider;

2) Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

 e) Fair Value Estimation - Investment Securities  (continued)
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(d) it is probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial re-organization;

(e) an active market for the financial asset has disappeared because of financial difficulties; or

(f) there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows from a portfolio of financial assets since the initial 

recognition of those assets, although the decrease cannot yet be identified with the individual financial asset in the 

portfolio including:-

i. adverse changes in the payment status of borrowers in the portfolio; and

ii. national or local economic conditions that correlate with defaults on the assets in the portfolio.

Where there is objective evidence of impairment to financial assets carried at amortized cost, the Group measures the amount of 

the loss as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows (excluding 

future credit losses that have not been incurred) discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate. the asset’s carrying 

amount is reduced and the amount of the loss is recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Profit or loss. if a held-to-maturity 

investment has a variable interest rate, the discount rate for measuring any impairment loss is the current effective interest rate 

under the contract. As a practical expedient, the Group may measure impairment on the basis of an instrument’s fair value using an 

observable market price.

if, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event 

occurring after the impairment was recognized (such as an improvement in the debtor’s credit rating), the reversal of an appropriate 

portion of the previously recognized impairment loss is recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Profit or loss.

Assets classified as available-for-sale

the Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or a group of 

financial assets classified as available-for-sale is impaired. For debt securities, the Group uses the criteria used for financial assets 

carried at amortized cost (see above).

in the case of equity investments classified as available-for-sale, in addition to the criteria for amortizing assets mentioned above, 

the Group assesses whether there has been either a significant or a prolonged decline in the fair value of the security below cost.  if 

there has been either a significant or a prolonged decline, it is regarded as evidence that the asset is impaired. if any such evidence 

exists for available-for-sale equity investments, the cumulative unrealised loss – measured as the difference between the acquisition 

cost and the current fair value, less any impairment loss on that financial asset previously recognized in profit or loss – is re-classified 

from equity and recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Profit or loss as an impairment expense.

the Group considers a decline for a period of twelve or more months as prolonged and a 30% decline below cost, as significant.

g) Repurchase and Reverse Repurchase Agreements

A repurchase agreement is the sale of securities for cash with a simultaneous agreement to repurchase the securities at a fixed price 

on a contracted date. An interest rate is negotiated for the term of the agreement. 

A reverse repurchase agreement is the opposite of a repurchase agreement. A reverse repurchase agreement is the purchase of 

securities for cash with a simultaneous agreement to re-sell them at a fixed price on a contracted date and at an agreed rate of 

interest.

A repurchase agreement may be construed as a borrowing. in the normal course of business the Corporation does not enter into 

repurchase agreements. As part of its short-term investment activity, it does enter into reverse repurchase agreements. Deterioration 

in the value of the securities bought under reverse repurchase agreements is materially covered through margin calls comprising 

cash and/or additional securities.

2) Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

 f ) Impairment of Financial Assets (continued)
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h) Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, Plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. Historical cost 

includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items. Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying 

amount or recognized as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the 

item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other costs for repairs and maintenance are charged 

to the Consolidated Statement of Profit or loss during the financial period in which such costs are incurred.

Where the carrying amount of Property, Plant and equipment is greater than its estimated recoverable amount, the asset is 

considered impaired and the carrying amount is written down to its recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on disposal of Property, Plant and equipment are determined by comparing the disposal proceeds with the carrying 

amounts. the resulting gains or losses are recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Profit or loss.

Freehold land is not depreciated. leasehold land is capitalized and amortized over the term of the lease.

Depreciation on Property, Plant and equipment, with the exception of motor vehicles, is calculated using the straight-line method to 

allocate their cost over their estimated useful lives.  the estimated useful life of the various categories of the Group’s property, plant 

and equipment follows:

Property, Plant and Equipment Category Estimated Useful Life

Building 50 years

office improvement 3-15 years

Computer equipment 2-8 years

office equipment 3-13 years

office Furniture & Fixtures 3-10 years

Motor vehicles are depreciated using a rate of 25% per annum on the reducing balance.

i) Intangible Assets

Acquired computer software and licenses are the only intangible assets recognized by the Group in these Financial Statements.  

Computer software and licenses are capitalized on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and bring the specific software into 

operation. the costs are recognized as intangible assets if, and only if, it is probable that the expected future economic benefits that 

are attributable to the asset will flow to the entity and the cost of the asset can be measured reliably.

the cost of intangible assets is amortized on a straight line basis over the estimated useful life of the asset (between three (3) to five 

(5) years). 

Costs associated with maintaining computer software are expensed as incurred.

j) Impairment of Non-Financial Assets

Assets that are subject to amortization are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that 

the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is the amount by which an asset’s carrying amount exceeds its 

recoverable amount. impairment losses are recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Profit or loss.

non-financial assets are reviewed for impairment at least annually.

k) Foreign Currency Translation

the Group’s functional and presentation currency is trinidad and tobago dollars. Foreign currency transactions are translated into the 

functional currency using the exchange rate prevailing on the date of the transaction. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting 

from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities 

denominated in foreign currencies, are recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Profit or loss.

2) Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
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the results and financial position of all Group entities that have a functional currency other than the presentation currency are 

translated into the presentation currency using the closing rate. All resulting exchange differences are recognized in the Consolidated 

Statement of Comprehensive income.

l) Employee Benefits

i. Short-term benefits

Short-term employee benefits such as salaries are recognized in the accounting period during which services are rendered 

by employees.

ii. Pension obligations

Group contributions to retirement benefit plans are recognized as an expense when employees have rendered service 

entitling them to the contributions.

Defined benefits comprise a small portion of the Group’s pension plan benefits (see note 10). the Group’s defined benefit 

obligations are calculated by estimating the value of future benefits that employees have earned in return for their service in 

the current and prior periods. the benefit is discounted to determine its present value. Any unrecognized past service costs 

and the fair value of the plan assets are deducted. the discount rate approximates either high quality corporate bonds or the 

long-term bond rate for government bonds with a duration similar to the defined benefit obligations.

the defined benefit obligation calculations are performed by an actuary regularly using the projected unit credit method. 

Should the calculation result in a surplus, the surplus is not recognized as an asset since the Group is not entitled to reduce 

its contributions to the plan.

iii. Other post-retirement obligations

the Group provides post-retirement medical and insurance benefits to its retirees. entitlement to these benefits is based on 

the employee remaining in service up to retirement age and the completion of a minimum service period. the expected costs 

of these benefits are accrued over the period of employment, using a methodology similar to that used in the computation 

of the defined benefit pension obligations.  An independent qualified actuary conducts a valuation of these obligations 

regularly.

m) Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents represent balances held for the purpose of meeting short-term cash commitments rather than for 

investment or other purposes.  it includes cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks, cash balances at brokers, other short-term 

instruments with original maturities of ninety days or less and bank overdrafts.

n) Provisions

Provisions are recognized when the Group has a present or constructive obligation as a result of past events; it is probable that 

an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation; and the amount of the obligation has been reliably estimated. 

Provisions are not recognized for future operating losses.

o) Revenue Recognition

income comprises the fair value of the consideration received or receivable for the rendering of services in the ordinary course of 

the Group’s activities. income is shown net of value-added tax, discounts and after eliminating services provided by Group entities.

interest income is recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Profit or loss using the effective interest method. Dividend income 

is recognized when the right to receive payment is established. Realized investment gains and losses are also recognized in the 

Consolidated Statement of Profit or loss. 

2) Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

 k) Foreign Currency Translation (continued)
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p) Borrowings

Borrowings are recognized initially at fair value, and are subsequently stated at amortized cost. Borrowing costs related to the 

acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets are capitalised. A qualifying asset is an asset which takes a substantial 

amount of time to be ready for use or sale. the Corporation does not borrow to finance the acquisition, construction or production 

of qualifying assets. 

q) Segment Reporting

A segment is a distinguishable component of the Group that is engaged in providing similar products or services which are subject 

to risk and rewards that are different from those of other segments. the Group consists of one segment as all the Group’s activities 

are incidental to its main activity of collective investment scheme management.

r) Separate Funds Under Management

the assets and liabilities pertaining to pension and other funds, which are managed by the Group in accordance with specific 

investment Management Agreements, are not included in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position of the Corporation. the 

market value of these portfolios as at 31 December, 2014 is $565 million (2013: $535 million).

s) Taxation

the Corporation is exempt from Corporation tax; however, it is subject to the Green Fund levy. Corporation tax is payable on profits 

realized by the subsidiaries, based on the applicable laws in each jurisdiction, and is recognized as an expense in the period in which 

profits arise.

the tax effects of income tax losses available for carry forward, are recognized as an asset when it is probable that future taxable 

profits will be available against which the losses can be utilized.

Deferred tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and 

liabilities and their carrying amounts in the Financial Statements.  

Deferred tax is determined using tax rates that have been enacted at the date of the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 

and are expected to apply when the related deferred tax asset is realized or the deferred corporation tax liability is settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognized where it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which the temporary 

differences can be utilized.

t) Comparative Information

Certain changes in presentation have been made in these Financial Statements. these changes had no effect on the operating 

results or net income after tax of the Group for the previous year.

2) Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
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3. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents are analyzed below:

2014

$’000

2013 

$’000

Corporation 388,021 625,947

locally Domiciled Funds 1,996,603 3,737,875

Foreign Funds 20 25

other Group entities 13,795 10,833

2,398,439 4,374,680

Cash and cash equivalents held by the locally domiciled Funds and foreign Funds form part of the capital of the said Funds.  in compliance 

with legislation, regulatory restrictions and best practice, the Funds’ assets, including cash and cash equivalents, are ring-fenced and are not 

available for use by the Group.
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4. INVESTMENT SECURITIES

 the Group’s investment securities are classified by major instrument type below.

Restated

2014

$’000

2013

$’000

Held-to-maturity investments carried at amortized cost:

Bonds 5,378,832 5,974,864

equity 19,785 20,046

Short-term investments 4,261,975 2,254,429

9,660,592 8,249,339

Available-for-sale assets carried at fair value:

Bonds 5,383,630 5,194,765

equity 3,663,866 3,452,336

Mutual Funds 90 78

Short-term investments 13,067 120,045

9,060,653 8,767,224

Total Investment Securities 18,721,245 17,016,563

a) The fair value of Level 3 Investment Securities carried at Amortized Cost.

the fair value of level 3 investment securities carried at cost is provided below.

2014 2013 Restated

Carrying Value

$’M

Fair  

Value

$’M

Carrying 

Value

$’M

Fair 

Value

$’M

Bonds 4,931.9 5,521.9 5,742.6 6,333.6

equity 19.8 19.8 20.0 20.0

Short-term investments 4,262.0 4,262.0 2,254.4 2,254.4

9,213.7 9,803.7 8,017.0 8,608.0

b) The Fair Value Hierarchy for Investment Securities

the Group’s investment securities are analyzed by the fair valuation hierarchy below:
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Fair Value Hierarchy for Investment Securities December 2014

Recurring fair value measurements

Level 1

(Quoted prices in 

active markets for 

identical assets)

$’000

Level 2

(Significant other 

observable inputs)

$’000

Level 3

(Significant 

unobservable inputs)

$’000

Total

$’000

Held-to-maturity investments 

carried at amortized cost:

Bonds 443,847 3,099 4,931,886 5,378,832

equity - - 19,785 19,785

Short-term investments 4,261,975 - - 4,261,975

4,705,822 3,099 4,951,671 9,660,592

Available-for-sale assets carried at 

fair value:

Bonds 37,512 3,295,650 2,050,468 5,383,630

equity 3,062,021 3,329 598,516 3,663,866

Short-term investments 13,067 - - 13,067

Mutual Fund units 90 - - 90

3,112,690 3,298,979 2,648,984 9,060,653

Total Investment Securities 7,818,512 3,302,078 7,600,655 18,721,245

4) Investment Securities (continued)
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Fair Value Hierarchy for Investment Securities December 2013 – Re-stated

Recurring fair value 

measurements

Level 1

(Quoted prices in 

active markets for 

identical assets)

$’000

Level 2

(Significant other 

observable inputs)

$’000

Level 3

(Significant 

unobservable inputs)

$’000

Total

$’000

Held-to-maturity investments 

carried at amortized cost:

Bonds 222,999 9,298 5,742,567 5,974,864

equity - - 20,046 20,046

Short-term investments 2,254,429 - - 2,254,429

2,477,428 9,298 5,762,613 8,249,339

Available-for-sale assets carried 

at fair value:

Bonds 45,000 2,395,435 2,754,330 5,194,765

equity 3,205,203 3,201 243,932 3,452,336

Short-term investments 120,045 - - 120,045

Mutual Fund units 78 - - 78

3,370,326 2,398,636 2,998,262 8,767,224

Total Investment Securities 5,847,754 2,407,934 8,760,875 17,016,563

c) Transfers between Fair Value Hierarchy Levels.

there were no transfers between the hierarchy levels during 2014.

d) Investment Securities included in Level 1

investments whose values are based on quoted securities in an active market are classified as level 1 and include: active listed equities, 

quoted uS Government securities and listed exchange traded Funds (etFs).  the Group does not adjust the quoted price on these 

instruments in arriving at their fair value.

e) Level 2 Fair Values

Financial instruments that are valued on the average of quotes provided by brokers, dealers or alternative pricing sources supported 

by observable inputs, are classified as level 2.  level 2 investments include positions that are not traded in active markets and/or are 

subject to transfer restrictions. valuations of such instruments may be adjusted to reflect their illiquidity and/or non-transferability.  Such 

adjustments are based on available market information.

4) Investment Securities (continued)

 b) The Fair Value Hierarchy for Investment Securities (continued)
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f) Valuation Techniques used to derive Level 3 Fair Values

investments classified as level 3 have significant unobservable inputs.  the valuation techniques used by the Group to arrive at the fair 

value of level 3 investments are summarized below.

Held-to-maturity Bonds:

the bonds classified as held-to-maturity are carried at amortized cost and principally include locally issued bonds.  in valuing such 

bonds, the Group uses internally constructed models designed to forecast future interest rates for tt$ and uS$ bonds issued in trinidad 

and tobago.  the models are commonly referred to as yield curves.  the yield curves are updated regularly by management based on 

‘market reads’ i.e. information gathered from market participants on the interest rates required for bonds issued in trinidad and tobago.  

the Group’s yield curves are largely comparable with the publicly available international yield curves for tt$ and uS$ bonds issued in 

trinidad and tobago.

the yield curves are used to estimate the returns required by market participants given the bond’s term to maturity.  the desired market 

yield serves as a benchmark in valuing bonds carried at amortized cost.  the benchmark is increased to arrive at an appropriate discount 

rate where management is of the view that an additional premium is warranted given the liquidity and other risks attaching to the 

bond at the reporting date.  the discount rate is used to discount the bond’s future cash flows and arrive at the net present value/fair 

value of the bond. 

Markets are dynamic and the market reads used to construct the yield curve may quickly become dated.  Management therefore 

reviews the benchmark at reporting dates to ensure that it reflects market participants’ view of the credit, liquidity, business and other 

risks of level 3 bonds at the reporting date.  

Management’s estimate of the fair value of the Group’s level 3 held-to-maturity bonds is provided at note 4 (a) above.

Held-to-Maturity Equity: 

Management estimates the value of its held-to-maturity equity using net present value techniques.  impairment reviews of the equity 

classified as held-to-maturity are undertaken regularly.  no impairment charges were recognized for these securities in 2014 (2013: nil). 

the carrying value of the Group’s held-to-maturity equity approximates its fair value at the reporting date.

Short-term Investments:

Management estimates that the value of its short-term investments approximates carrying value.

Available-for-sale Bonds:

Available-for-sale bonds are valued based on the average of quotations received for the bond at the reporting date.

Available-for-sale Equity:

Available-for-sale equity instruments are valued based on the average of quotations received for the security at the reporting date.

the table below summarises the valuation techniques used in estimating the fair value of level 3 securities, the significant unobservable 

inputs, the relationship of the unobservable inputs to fair value and the impact that an increase or decrease in the unobservable inputs 

would have had on the valuation results.

4) Investment Securities (continued)
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As at 31 December 2014

Level 3 fair  
value 2014

Valuation  
Technique used

Significant 
unobservable 

inputs

Possible shift in 
inputs +/-

Change in  
valuation +/-

Held-to-maturity investments 
carried at amortized cost:

$’M $’M

Bonds 5,521.9
Yield Curve/net 

Present value
Bond yields and risk 

premia

+1% -380.8

-1% 44.6

equity 19.8 not applicable not applicable not applicable not applicable

Short-term investments 4,262.0

Sub-total 9,803.7

Available-for-sale investments 
carried at fair value

Bonds 2,050.5
Average of broker  

and other quotations
not applicable not applicable not applicable

equity    598.5
Average of broker  

and other quotations
not applicable not applicable not applicable

Sub-total    2,649.0

TOTAL 12,452.7

 the following table presents the movement in level 3 instruments for the year 2014.

Carrying 
Value Level 
3 Securities 

1/1/2014
$’M

Purchases/ 
Capitalized 

Interest
$’M

Sales/ 
Repayments/ 

Maturities
$’M

Net Gains/
Losses 

recognized in 
Profit or Loss

$’M

Un-realized 
Gains/
Losses 

recognized in 
Other Compre-
hensive Income

$’M

Carrying Values 
Level 3 Securities 

31/12/2014
$’M

Fair Values
$’M

Held-to-maturity assets 
carried at amortized 
cost:

Bonds 5,742.6 205.7 (930.1) (86.3) - 4,931.9 5,521.9

equity 20.0 - - (0.2) - 19.8 19.8

5,762.6 205.7 (930.1) (86.5) - 4,951.7 5,541.7

Available-for-sale 
assets carried at fair 
value
Bonds 2,754.3 - (707.6) (0.1) 3.9 2,050.5 2,050.5

equity 244.0 377.0 (31.6) 1.1 8.0 598.5 598.5

2,998.3 377.0 (739.2) 1.0 11.9 2,649.0 2,649.0

TOTAL 8,760.9 582.7 (1,669.3) (85.5) 11.9 7,600.7 8,190.7

4) Investment Securities (continued)

 f ) Valuation Techniques used to derive Level 3 Fair Values (continued)
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As at 31 December 2013 - Restated

Re-stated
Level 3 fair value 

2013

Valuation Technique 
used

Significant 
unobservable 

inputs

Possible shift 
in inputs +/-

Change in 
valuation +/-

Held-to-maturity investments 
carried at amortized cost:

$’M $’M

Bonds 6,333.6
Yield Curve/net Present 
value

Bond yields and risk 
premia

+1% -188.6
-1% +205.7

equity 20.0 not applicable not applicable not applicable not applicable

Short-term investments 2,254.4

Sub-total 8,608.0

Available-for-sale investments 
carried at fair value

Bonds 2,754.3
Average of broker and 
other quotations

not applicable not applicable not applicable

equity      244.0
Average of broker and 
other quotations

not applicable not applicable not applicable

Sub-total   2,998.3

TOTAL 11,606.3

 

the following table presents the restated movement in level 3 instruments for the year 2013.

Carrying 
Value Level 
3 Securities 

1/1/2013
$’M

Purchases/ 
Capitalized 

Interest
$’M

Sales/ 
Repayments/ 

Maturities
$’M

Re-stated
Net Gains/

Losses 
recognized in 
Profit or Loss

$’M

Un-realized 
Gains/
Losses 

recognized in 
Other Compre-

hensive 
Income

$’M

Re-stated
Carrying 

Values Level 
3 Securities 
31/12/2013

$’M

Re-stated
Fair Values

$’M

Held-to-maturity 
assets carried at 
amortized cost:

Bonds 5,607.3 2,204.6 (2,106.2) 36.9 - 5,742.6 6,333.6

equity 28.8 - - (8.8) - 20.0 20.0

5,636.1 2,204.6 (2,106.2) 28.1 - 5,762.6 6,353.6

Available-for-sale 
assets carried at fair 
value

Bonds 3,266.4 157.7 (646.8) - (23.0) 2,754.3 2,754.3

equity 334.4 67.7 (131.8) - (26.3) 244.0 244.0

3,600.8 225.4 (778.6) (49.3) 2,998.3 2,998.3

TOTAL 9,236.9 2,430.0 (2,884.8) 28.1 (49.3) 8,760.9 9,351.9

4) Investment Securities (continued)

 f ) Valuation Techniques used to derive Level 3 Fair Values (continued)
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5. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Land Building
Office 

Improvement
Motor 

Vehicles

Office & 
Computer 

Equipment
Office 

Furniture Total 

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Year ended 31 Dec., 2014

Opening Net Book Value 16,118 107,035 18,526 1,584 15,852 5,158 164,273

Acquisitions - - 1,749 286 10,587 180 12,802

Re-classifications - - - - - - -

Disposals - - - (136) (5) - (141)

Depreciation/Amortization (22) (2,809) (4,609) (359) (4,695) (980) (13,474)

Closing net Book value 16,096 104,226 15,666 1,375 21,739 4,358 163,460

As at 31 Dec., 2014

Cost 16,569 139,427 50,826 3,856 72,590 22,451 305,719

Accumulated Depreciation/ 
impairment charges

(473) (35,201) (35,160) (2,481) (50,851) (18,093) (142,259)

net Book value 16,096 104,226 15,666 1,375 21,739 4,358 163,460

Year ended 31 Dec., 2013

Opening Net Book Value 16,140 109,843 21,400 2,398 17,705 4,774 172,260

Acquisitions - - 2,572 250 3,079 1,414 7,315

Re-classifications - - - - (2) 2 -

Disposals - - (47) (513) (231) (36) (827)

Depreciation/Amortization (22) (2,808) (5,399) (551) (4,699) (996) (14,475)

Closing net Book value 16,118 107,035 18,526 1,584 15,852 5,158 164,273

As at 31 Dec., 2013

Cost 16,569 139,427 49,077 4,528 62,589 22,271 294,461

Accumulated Depreciation/
impairment charges

(451) (32,392) (30,551) (2,944) (46,737) (17,113) (130,188)

net Book value 16,118 107,035 18,526 1,584 15,852 5,158 164,273
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Land

land includes leasehold land of $2.2 million (2013 $2.2 million) and freehold land of $14.4 million (2013: $14.4 million).

Fair Value Land and Buildings

the fair value of land and buildings was estimated at $192.2 million at 31 December, 2014 (2013: $191.5 million). land and buildings are valued 

by independent professional valuers every three years.  the valuation in the intervening years is undertaken by management.  information 

related to the valuation of land and buildings is provided in the table below:

Property
Cost
$’M

Independent 
Valuation

$’M
Date of last 

valuation

Fair value
31 Dec 2014

$’M
Valuation  

Level

leasehold land 2.2 17.0 31 Dec 2013 17.0 level 2 

Freehold land 14.4 61.9 31 Dec 2014 61.9 level 1

Building 70.9 77.0 31 Dec 2013 77.0 level 2 

Buildings 68.5 36.3 31 Dec 2014 36.3 level 1

Total 156.0 192.2 192.2

Valuation Technique used to derive Level 2 fair valuation Land and Buildings

Management estimated the fair value of level 2 land and buildings by reference to recent sale prices of comparable land and buildings in the 

immediate vicinity of the Group’s properties.

5) Property, Plant and Equipment (continued)
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6. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

2014 2013

$’000 $’000

Year ended 31 December

opening net Book value 5,996 16,015

Acquisitions 1,833 617

Disposals - -

Amortization Adjustment - (6,496)

Amortization (5,275) (4,140)

Closing Net Book Value 2,554 5,996

As at 31 December

Cost 52,441 50,608

Accumulated Amortization (49,887) (44,612)

Net Book Value 2,554 5,996

in 2013, the Group changed the maximum estimated useful life of its computer software licenses from ten (10) years to five (5) years which 

resulted in an amortization adjustment of $6.5 million. 
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7. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Term 2014 2013 

$’000 $’000

Fixed-term Funding less than 1 year 573,190 1,174,898

long-term Bonds 10 years - 646

Total 573,190 1,175,544

Fixed-term funding represents financial liabilities in the form of investment note Certificates all of which were originated with maturities of less 

than one year.  the carrying value of these liabilities is assumed to approximate their fair value.

the long-term interest bearing bonds were issued by utC Property Holdings limited to finance the construction of its properties.

8. TAXATION

the local subsidiary companies are subject to Corporation tax and the foreign subsidiaries are subject to taxation relevant to their country of 

domicile.

2014 2013

$’000 $’000

net income before taxation 137,162 118,888

less: income taxed at 0% (131,358) (113,670)

net income subject to tax 5,804 5,218

Corporation tax at 25% for local subsidiaries 1,450 1,305

Corporation tax for foreign subsidiaries 638 -

Withholding tax 6,534 8,562

Business levy payments 163 87

Green Fund levy payments 409 420

Tax charge 9,194 10,374
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9. DEFERRED TAX

Deferred taxes are calculated on all temporary differences under the liability method using the current rate of 25%.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities and deferred tax (credit)/charge in the profit or loss account are attributable to the following items:

2014 2013

$’000 $’000

tax losses carried forward (369) (1,434)

Accelerated tax depreciation 7,333 6,947

Net deferred liability 6,964 5,513

the movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities during the years presented are as follows:

Deferred Tax Liability
Accelerated Tax 

Depreciation

$’000

Balance at 1 January 2013 6,478

Charged to the Consolidated Statement of Profit or loss 2013     469

Balance as at 31 December 2013 6,947

Charged to the Consolidated Statement of Profit or loss 2014    386    

Balance as at 31 December 2014 7,333 

Deferred Tax Asset Tax Losses

$’000

Balance at 1 January 2013 (2,269)

Charged to the Consolidated Statement of Profit or loss 2013      835

Balance as at 31 December 2013 (1,434)

Charged to the Consolidated Statement of Profit or loss 2014   1,065    

Balance as at 31 December 2014   (369)
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10. PENSION AND OTHER POST RETIREMENT BENEFITS

a) Pension benefits

Prior to 1 January, 2001 the unit trust Corporation Pension Fund Plan (the Plan) was a defined benefit plan. Although the Plan received 

formal approval during 2002 for conversion to a defined contribution plan with effect from 1 January 2001, pre- 1 January, 2001 benefits are 

guaranteed.  For purposes of iAS 19 the Plan remains a defined benefit plan.  Retirement benefits are currently paid out of the Plan and are 

guaranteed for life. the defined benefits comprise a small portion of Plan benefits.

i. Changes in the present value of the defined benefit obligations are as follows:

2014

$’000

2013

$’000

opening present value of defined benefit obligation 153,891 136,298

Current service costs 8,156 8,081

Plan participant contributions 3,506 3,524

interest cost 7,875 13,137

Actuarial gains on obligation (8,175) (1,429)

Benefit and expenses paid (4,449) (5,720)

Closing present value of defined benefit obligation 160,804 153,891

ii. Changes in the fair value of Plan assets are as follows:

2014

$’000

2013

$’000

opening fair value of Plan assets 151,768 131,652

expected return on Plan assets 7,980 13,370

Actuarial loss on Plan assets (5,419) (924)

employer contributions for current service 9,816 9,866

Plan participant contributions for current service 3,506 3,524

Benefits and expenses paid (4,449) (5,720)

Closing fair value of Plan assets 163,202 151,768
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iii. the amounts recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position are as follows:

2014
$’000

2013
$’000

Present value of the defined benefit obligation (160,804) (153,891)

Fair value of Plan assets 163,202 151,768

Sub-total 2,398 (2,123)

un-recognized asset due to limit in iAS 19:64 (b) (2,398) -

liability recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position - (2,123)

iv. the amounts recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Profit or loss are as follows:

2014
$’000

2013
$’000

Current service costs 8,156 8,081

net interest costs (106) (232)

total recognized in Staff Costs 8,050 7,849

v. the amounts recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive income are as  follows:

2014
$’000

2013
$’000

Actuarial losses (2,755) (1,429)

iAS 19: 64 (b) limit 2,398 924

(357) (505)

vi. the major categories of Plan assets as a percentage of total Plan assets are as follows:

2014
%

2013
%

universal Retirement Fund 73.0 73.0

tt$ income Fund 27.0 27.0

vii. the actual return on Plan assets are as follows:

2014

$’000

2013

$’000

Actual return 2,562 12,446

10) Pension and Other Post Retirement Benefits (continued)

 a) Pension benefits (continued)
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viii. the actuarial assumptions have been based on market expectations at 31 December annually for the period over which the 

obligations are to be settled. the principal actuarial assumptions used are as follows:

2014

%

2013

%

Discount rate at 31 December 5.0 5.0

Future salary increases 5.0 5.0

 

ix. the Group expects to contribute $9.9 million to the Plan in 2015.

b) Group Life Benefits

the Corporation operates a post-employment Group life Scheme.  the method of accounting, the assumptions and the frequency of 

valuations are similar to those used for computing the defined benefit pension obligations. 

i. the changes in the present value of the defined benefit obligation are as follows:

2014
$’000

2013
$’000

Present value of the defined benefit obligations of the Group Life Scheme

opening present value of defined benefit obligations 1,575 1,398

Current service costs 113 94

interest costs 83 74

Actuarial (gains)/losses on obligations (70) 34

Benefits paid (38) (25)

Closing present value of defined benefit obligations 1,663 1,575

ii. the changes in the fair value of Plan assets are as follows:

2014
$’000

2013
$’000

opening fair value of Plan assets - -

Adjustment - -

Return on Plan assets at discount rate - -

Gains/(losses) on Plan assets - -

employer contributions for current service 38 25

Plan participant contributions for current service - -

Benefits paid (38) (25)

Closing fair value of Plan assets - -

10) Pension and Other Post Retirement Benefits (continued)

 a) Pension benefits (continued)
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iii. the amounts recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position are as follows:

2014
$’000

2013
$’000

Present value of the defined benefit obligation 1,663 1,575

Fair value of Plan assets - -

1,663 1,575

unrecognized assets due to limit in iAS 19:64 (b) - -

unrecognized actuarial gains/(losses) - -

liability recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 1,663 1,575

iv. the amounts recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Profit or loss are as follows:

2014

$’000

2013

$’000

Current service costs 113 94

net interest costs 83 74

expense recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Profit or loss 196 168

v. the amounts recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive income are as follows:

2014 

$’000

2013 

$’000

experience (gains)/losses - Demographic (70) 34

experience (gains)/losses – Financial - -

Re-measurement (gains)/losses - Demographic - -

Re-measurement (gains)/losses – Financial - -

total actuarial (gains)/losses recognized in the Consolidated Statement of 
Comprehensive income

(70) 34

10) Pension and Other Post Retirement Benefits (continued)

 b) Group Life Benefits (continued)
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c) Medical Benefits

the Corporation operates a post-employment medical benefit scheme.  the method of accounting, the assumptions and the frequency 

of valuations are similar to those used for computing the defined benefit pension obligations.

i. the changes in the present value of the defined benefit obligation are as follows:

2014
$’000

2013
$’000

Present value of the defined benefit obligations of the Medical Benefit Scheme

opening present value of defined benefit obligation 9,299 8,313

Current service costs 725 652

interest costs 479 445

Actuarial (gains)/losses (276) 13

Benefits paid (156) (124)

Closing present value of defined benefit obligation 10,071 9,299

ii. the changes in the fair value of Plan assets are as follows:

2014

$’000

2013

$’000

opening fair value of Plan assets - -

Adjustment - -

Return on Plan assets at discount rate - -

Gain/loss) on Plan assets - -

employer contributions for current service 156 124

Plan participant contributions for current service - -

Benefits paid (156) (124)

Closing fair value of Plan assets - -

10) Pension and Other Post Retirement Benefits (continued)
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iii. the amounts recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position are as follows:

2014
$’000

2013
$’000

Present value of the defined benefit obligation 10,071 9,299

Fair value of Plan assets - -

10,071 9,299

unrecognized assets due to limit in iAS 19:64 (b) - -

unrecognized actuarial gain/(loss) - -

liability recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 10,071 9,299

iv. the amounts recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Profit or loss are as follows:

2014
$’000

2013
$’000

Current service costs 725 652

net interest costs 479 445

expense recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Profit or loss 1,204 1,097

v. the amounts recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive income are as follows:

2014
$’000

2013
$’000

experience (gains)/losses - Demographic (276) 13

experience (gains)/losses – Financial - -

Re-measurement (gains)/losses - Demographic - -

Re-measurement (gains)/losses – Financial - -

total Actuarial (gains)/losses recognized in the Consolidated Statement of 
Comprehensive income (276) 13

10) Pension and Other Post Retirement Benefits (continued)

 c) Medical Benefits (continued)
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in addition to the pension benefit actuarial assumptions at 10 (a) (viii) above, the Medical Benefit Scheme benefit obligation calculation 

assumes that long term health costs will increase by 3% (2013: 3%).

A summary of the post retirement liabilities are as follows:

2014

$’000

2013

$’000

Pension liability (see note 10 (a) (iii) above)
- 2,123

Group life liability (see note 10 (b) (iii) above)
1,663 1,575

Medical Benefit liability (see note 10(c) (iii) above) 10,071 9,299

Total 11,734 12,997

11. GUARANTEE PRICING LIABILITY

the Growth and income Fund (G&iF) guarantees that all unit holders that hold their units in the Fund for three years from the date of purchase, 

will redeem those units at a price no less than the purchase price of those units. the Corporation established the Guarantee Reserve Fund 

under section 26 (1) of the Act to meet claims under the Guarantee Pricing Plan.

there is significant uncertainty with regard to the timing and value of the claims made under the Guarantee Pricing Plan.  Factors that appear 

to influence the timing of guarantee claims include:

i. the prevailing price of the Growth and income Fund units.  Generally, the price of the G&iF units and the total Guarantee Pricing 

liability are inversely related.  increases in the price of G&iF units generally result in a decrease in the total Guarantee Pricing liability 

as the number of units ‘in the money’ tends to contract.  Conversely a decrease in the price of the units generally increases the total 

Guarantee Pricing liability as more units are ‘in the money’; and

ii. General public sentiment with regard to the local and global economy.

the G&iF allocates $500,000 out of its undistributed earnings to the Guarantee Reserve Fund at each distribution, to meet any guarantee claims 

that may arise.  the Corporation has historically funded shortfalls in the Guarantee Reserve Fund and is committed to doing so in the future.

in estimating its total Guarantee Pricing liability at December 2014, the Corporation:

i. used historical data to develop scenarios of the possible future paths of the unit prices of the G&iF during the ensuing calendar year;

ii. estimated the claims that may arise under each price projection scenario based on the value of the units entitled to claims at 31 

December 2014 ($37.0 million) and the offer price at 31 December 2014; 

iii. assigned probability weightings to the claim projections for each scenario;

iv. computed the expected value of each scenario by multiplying the projected claims for the scenario by the probability weighting 

assigned to that scenario, and

v. aggregated the expected value of each scenario to determine the total liability.

the expected value represents the Corporation’s best estimate of the expenditure required to settle its constructive obligations under the 

Guarantee Pricing Plan at the end of each of the annual periods presented.  the Guarantee Pricing liability was estimated at $3.723 million at 

December 2014 (2013: $5.043 million).

the actual claims against the liability at December 2014 may vary significantly from the Corporation’s best estimate due to material variances 

in the foregoing assumptions.

10) Pension and Other Post Retirement Benefits (continued)
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12. NET ASSETS ATTRIBUTABLE TO NON-GROUP INTERESTS

this represents units issued by the Growth and income Fund, the tt$ income Fund, the universal Retirement Fund, the uS$ income Fund and 

shares issued by the north American Fund.  the units/shares issued by each of the foregoing Funds may be redeemed by unit/share holders 

of the Funds at any time. each Fund is primarily responsible for redemption of its units/shares out of its assets.  the Corporation is committed 

to making good any shortfall that may arise.

the units in the locally domiciled Funds and the north American Fund are treated as equity instruments in their Financial Statements in 

accordance with iAS 32.16A to 16D.  

However as required by iAS 32: AG29, the units are treated as a liability in these Consolidated Financial Statements.  An analysis of net assets 

attributable to unit holders is provided below.

2014
$’000

2013
$’000

initial Capital Growth and income Fund 4,766 4,766

unit Capital Growth and income Fund 4,682,607 4,433,321

unit Capital tt$ income Fund 10,474,481 10,662,594

unit Capital universal Retirement Fund 273,940 257,348

unit Capital uS$ income Fund 4,054,418 3,900,078

Sub-total locally domiciled Funds 19,490,212 19,258,107

unit trust Corporation (Cayman) SPC limited - 5,989

north American Fund 46,682 50,227

Sub-total corporate bodies 46,682 56,216

Net Assets Attributable to Non-group Interests 19,536,894 19,314,323

ANALYSIS OF NET ASSETS ATTRIBUTABLE TO NON-GROUP INTERESTS 2014
$’000

2013
$’000

Cash and Cash equivalents 1,996,609 3,737,884

Receivables 343,486 331,203

investment Securities 17,534,263 15,570,862

Total Assets 19,874,358 19,639,949

less: liabilities (120,992) (156,364)

less: Group holdings in utC (Cayman) SPC and  north American Fund (216,472) (169,262)

Net Assets Attributable to Non-group Interests 19,536,894 19,314,323

initial Capital represents the capital subscribed by the initial Contributors, in accordance with Section 17 of the Act.  the subscriptions were 

invested in the Growth and income Fund. initial Capital at 31 December, 2014 was $4.8 million (2013: $4.8 million)

unit capital represents the net Asset value of the four (4) investment Funds domiciled in trinidad and tobago at the reporting dates. in respect 

of the Growth and income Fund (First unit Scheme), this excludes the acquisition cost of the units issued in respect of initial Capital.

Financial information is provided for the locally domiciled entities represented above in notes 33-36.

Summarized information for the north American Fund is provided in note 37. 
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13. STATUTORY RESERVES

in accordance with Section 59(3)(d)(ii) of the Securities industry Act, Chapter 83:02 and Section 12(1)(a) and (b) of the Securities industry By-

laws, Chapter 83:02, a reserve of $5 million was established to satisfy the capital requirements for registration as an underwriter and $50,000 

for registration as an investment Adviser.

14. REVALUATION RESERVE

the revaluation reserve reflects un-realized capital appreciation and depreciation from changes in the fair values of available-for-sale financial 

instruments and foreign currency translation differences related to such financial instruments. the revaluation of the investments held by the 

investment Funds is reflected in the line item net Assets Attributable to non-group interests and is not included in this revaluation reserve.

15. INVESTMENT INCOME – INVESTMENT FUNDS

the investment income of the Funds reported in the Consolidated Statement of Profit or loss excludes transfers from the Corporation. During 

2014 the Corporation transferred income in the amount of $8.2 million to the Growth and income Fund (2013: $2.65 million).

16. NET INVESTMENT INCOME – GROUP OPERATIONS

net investment income includes the contribution to revenue from treasury operations and the corporate subsidiaries. it comprises the 

following:

Net Investment Income 2014
$’000

2013
$’000

interest and other Fee income 45,864 80,993

interest expense and other Charges (22,850) (44,984)

Total 23,014 36,009

17. REALIZED GAINS RE-CLASSIFIED FROM EQUITY

un-realized gains in the amount of $392 million were recognized in equity on the revaluation of available-for-sale bonds during 2012. on 

receipt of principal repayments and on disposal of available-for-sale bonds, the relevant portion of the un-realized gains in equity is re-classified 

to the Consolidated Statement of Profit or loss. the total un-realized gains re-classified from equity to the Consolidated Statement of Profit or 

loss was $78 million (2013: $55 million). 
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18. IMPAIRMENT

the Group recognised impairment charges of $165.6 million during 2014. A summary of the impairment charges for 2014 and 2013 is as 

follows. 

Entity 2014
$’000

2013
$’000

Growth and income Fund 51,072 80,952

tt$ income Fund 6,180 12,216

universal Retirement Fund 2,192 2,387

uS$ income Fund 46,158 33,443

Sub-total 105,602 128,998

Corporation and subsidiaries 60,000 36,421

Total 165,602 165,419

A portion of the impairment charges recognized represents amounts previously recognized as un-realised losses on available-for-sale assets 

in the equity of the respective Funds.  Accordingly, recognition of those impairment losses in the Profit or loss Account did not impact 

the carrying value of the assets in the respective Funds and consequently had no impact on the net Asset value (nAv) of the Funds. the 

impairment charges are analyzed to show those amounts that affected the carrying value of the assets.

2014
$’000

2013
$’000

impairments which reduced the carrying value of assets 112,338 96,486

impairments which did not impact the carrying value of assets 53,264 68,933

Total 165,602 165,419

the impairment charges are analyzed by iAS 39 classification below.

2014
$’000

2013
$’000

Available-for-sale 113,265 116,884

Held-to-maturity 52,337 48,535

Total 165,602 165,419

the carrying value of the assets impaired (before deducting any impairment loss) and the fair value of collateral held are provided below.

2014
$’000

2013
$’000

Carrying value of impaired investments 685,278 466,521

Fair value of collateral held for impaired investments - -
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19. ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

Administrative expenses comprised:

2014
$’000

2013
$’000

Audit fees 187 668

Bank charges 1,688 2,033

Building maintenance 6,187 5,304

Directors’ fees 1,659 1,762

General administration 40,446 43,238

insurance 2,387 2,341

impairment– non-financial assets 391 7,339

Marketing and advertising 10,363 9,148

Professional services 13,566 12,382

Rental of premises 6,040 6,205

Security 11,896 12,478

Staff costs (note 24) 131,396 109,496

Total 226,206 212,394

20. FINANCE CHARGES

2014

$’000

2013 

$’000

long-term bonds (note 7) 22 73
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21. MANAGEMENT CHARGE

the Corporation, in accordance with the regulations governing the Growth and income Fund, the tt$ income Fund, the universal Retirement 

Fund and the uS$ income Fund, may charge a management fee of up to 2% on the value of the Funds under management. the average rate 

of management charge for the year was 1.67% (2013: 1.53%). 

Management charge is eliminated on consolidation. Management charge eliminated for the years ended 31 December 2014 and 31 December 

2013 is as follows:

2014
$’000

2013
$’000

Growth and income Fund 94,560 81,209

tt$ income Fund 174,905 159,028

universal Retirement Fund 5,395 4,787

uS$ income Fund 42,046 36,734

Total 316,906 281,758

in addition to the management charge of $317 million, the Group earned management charge of $3.2 million (2013: $3.0 million) from 

its foreign investment portfolios and other funds under management. Management charge from third party funds under management is 

recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Profit or loss.

22. RESTRICTED ASSETS

the Group, in keeping with best practice and legislation, has no access to the investment securities, cash holdings, cash flows or other assets of 

the Funds.  the Funds are by nature Collective investment Schemes and as such the assets, including cash, are ring-fenced and used exclusively 

for the interests of the unit holders/shareholders.  the tables below analyze the significant line items in the Consolidated Statement of Financial 

Position which include assets that are not available to the Group.

Particulars 2014
$’000

2013
$’000

Cash and Cash equivalents  (see note 3) 2,398,439 4,374,680

Restricted Cash and Cash equivalents (1,996,623) (3,737,900)

Available to Group without restriction 401,816 636,780

Particulars 2014
$’000

2013
$’000

Receivables 163,734 170,904

Restricted Receivables (149,338) (160,105)

Available to Group without restriction 14,396 10,799

Particulars 2014
$’000

2013
$’000

investment Securities (see note 4) 18,721,245 17,016,564

Restricted investment Securities (17,577,494) (15,622,604)

Available to Group without restriction 1,143,751 1,393,960
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23. FOREIGN EXCHANGE GAINS / (LOSSES)

the exchange differences credited to the Consolidated Statement of Profit or loss are included in other income as follows: 

2014
$’000

2013
$’000

Foreign exchange gains 1,720 1,988

24. STAFF COSTS

2014
$’000

2013
$’000

Salaries and benefits 118,780 97,737

Pension costs 8,050 7,849

national insurance 4,566 3,910

Total 131,396 109,496

Number of employees 510 497

25. DISTRIBUTIONS

2014
$’000

2013
$’000

Growth and income Fund 16,547 31,259

tt$ income Fund 99,037 125,206

uS$ income Fund 31,142 42,159

Total 146,726 198,624

a) Growth and Income Fund

the Growth and income Fund paid $16.5 million to its unit holders in respect of its June 2014 and December 2014 distributions 

(2013: $31.3 million). included in the $16.5 million referred to, are distributions to initial Capital Contributors of $0.05 million (2013: 

$0.1 million).

b) TT$ Income Fund

the tt$ income Fund makes quarterly distributions at the end of February, May, August and november. income accrued at 31 

December, 2014 for distribution in the quarter ending 28 February, 2015 amounted to $17.1 million (2013: $13.7 million).

c) US$ Income Fund

Distributions in the uS$ income Fund are paid by calendar quarters.
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26. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

Unit Trust Corporation (Cayman) SPC Limited

on 28 october 2013, the unit trust Corporation (Cayman) SPC limited ceased operations. the assets of the funds were liquidated and investors’ 

units redeemed. 

During 2014 the Group received the outstanding balances from its brokerage accounts. 

Summary 2014
$’000

2013
$’000

Gain on disposal – utC Cayman (SPC) limited 2 7,636

2011 Disposal expenses -  Merchant Bank Portfolio - (1,762)

Total Discontinued Operations 2 5,874

27. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

the financial assets and liabilities of the Group are summarized below:

Restated

Financial Assets

2014
$’000

2013
$’000

Cash and Bank Balances (see note 3) 2,398,439 4,374,680

Receivables 163,734 170,904

investment Securities (see note 4) 18,721,245 17,016,563

21,283,418 21,562,148

Financial Liabilities

Financial instruments (see note 7) (573,190) (1,175,544)

net Assets Attributable to non-group interest (see note 12) (19,536,894) (19,314,323)

20,110,084 20,489,867

Financial Risk Management Framework

the Collective investment Schemes managed by the Corporation and the Corporation’s investment activities expose the Group to a variety 

of financial risks.  the Board of Directors has established policies, procedures and an Audit Risk and Compliance Committee to minimize the 

potential loss arising from such financial risks.

the Audit Risk and Compliance Committee meets quarterly to: 

i. monitor compliance with the risk management policies and procedures established by the Board;

ii. ensure that the overall risk profile and policy environment of the Group is appropriate and consistent with the Group’s strategic 

objectives; and

iii. consider reports and recommendations submitted by the Risk Management Department, the internal Audit Department and the 

Management Risk Committee – an executive committee chaired by the executive Director.
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Financial Risk Exposures

the primary financial risks to which the Group is exposed are:

i. equity price risk

ii. interest rate risk

iii. currency risk

iv. credit risk; and 

v. liquidity risk

the Group does not use derivatives to hedge any of the foregoing risks neither does it enter into transactions for speculative purposes.

Equity Price Risk

equity price risk is the risk that the fair value of equities decreases as a result of changes in the levels of equity indices and the value of individual 

stocks.

three (3) of the Funds within the Group have significant holdings of equities most of which are traded on either the local or north American 

stock exchanges.  negative equity price movements in the local and foreign equity markets can subject the portfolios to decreases in their 

net Asset values.  this risk is managed by:

i. careful asset allocation and security selection;

ii. daily monitoring of security prices; and

iii. monitoring and measuring of each portfolio’s price risk exposure.

the equity price risk exposure is monitored and measured with reference to the beta of equity instruments.  Beta is a measure of the stock’s 

price sensitivity to the stock market e.g. stocks that have a beta of 1 would change by approximately 1% for every 1% move in the overall stock 

market. 

A stock with a beta less than 0.9 is considered to have a low equity price risk relative to the overall market.  A stock with a beta above 1.1 is 

considered to have a high equity price risk vis-à-vis the market.  A stock with a beta between 0.9 and 1.1 is regarded as having equity price risk 

comparable to the market.

the Group’s equity holdings are categorized below, both in dollar terms and as a percentage of total equity holdings, into three (3) categories 

to reflect the Group’s exposure to movements in equity prices.  

Lower than market

$’000

Comparable to market

$’000

Higher than market

$’000

At 31 December, 2014 2,393,071 720,023 570,647
55.6% 29.0% 15.4%

At 31 December, 2013 1,915,048 1,074,526 428,817

56.0% 31.4% 12.6%

27) Financial Risk Management (continued)
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the following table presents the approximate sensitivity of the net asset value of the Group to a 5% change in the ttSe Composite index and 

the S&P 500 Composite index respectively as at 31 December, 2014 and 31 December, 2013 with all other variables held constant.  

31 December, 2014 31 December, 2013

TTSE Composite Index $39.6 million $65.9 million

S&P 500 Composite Index $58.4 million $63.1 million

Interest Rate Risk

interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest 

rates.

Funds

two (2) of the Funds within the Group have significant bond holdings and are therefore exposed to interest rate risks.

in general, rising interest rates expose these portfolios to significant fair value interest rate risk i.e. the fair value of fixed rate debt instruments 

held by the portfolios can diminish because of a rise in market interest rates.  Conversely falling interest rates generally expose these portfolios 

to significant cash flow interest rate risk.  the variable rate debt instruments held by the portfolio will experience a diminution in earnings as 

market interest rates fall.

the overall interest rate risk of the portfolios is managed by making appropriate adjustments to the weighted average duration (term to 

maturity) of the portfolio based on relevant economic and financial market information.

27) Financial Risk Management (continued)

 Equity Price Risk (continued)



A42 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December, 2014 | Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars

Corporation

Due to the Corporation’s interest bearing asset and liability positions, movements in interest rates expose it to volatility in its net interest 

income.  A substantial portion of its interest bearing assets are at variable rates.  its financial instruments are short-term but not variable rate 

instruments.  it therefore carefully manages potential rate re-pricing mis-matches to maintain a stable and consistent spread between its 

interest bearing assets and its financial instruments.

the Group’s exposure to interest rate risk is summarized below.

  Less than 1 

year

Between 1 and 

5 years Over 5 years

Non-Interest 

Bearing Total

  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

At 31 December, 2014

Assets

Cash & Cash equivalents 2,398,439 - - - 2,398,439

Short-term investments 4,239,095 35,947 - - 4,275,042

Fixed income Securities 3,727,069 2,958,664 4,076,729 - 10,762,462

 

Liabilities

Financial instruments (573,190) - - - (573,190)

net Assets Attributable to non-

group interest                -               -                - (19,536,894) (19,536,894)

Rate Re-pricing Position 9,791,413 2,994,611 4,076,729 (19,536,894)   (2,674,141)

  Less than 1 
year

Between 1 and 
5 years Over 5 years

Non-Interest 
Bearing Total

  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

At 31 December, 2013 - 
Restated

Assets

Cash & Cash equivalents 4,374,680 - - - 4,374,680

Short-term investments 2,302,474 72,000 - - 2,374,474

Fixed income Securities 877,099 3,462,407 6,830,123 - 11,169,629

 

Liabilities

Financial instruments (1,175,544) - - - (1,175,544)

net assets attributable to non-
group interests                    -                  -                   - (19,314,323)) (19,314,323)

Rate Re-pricing Position     6,378,709 3,534,407 6,830,123 (19,314,323)   (2,571,084)

27) Financial Risk Management (continued)

 Interest rate risk (continued)
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Currency Risk

Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or the future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in foreign 

exchange rates.  the tt$ denominated portfolios can be negatively impacted by movements in the uS$/tt$ exchange rate.

the material foreign currency assets and liabilities of the Group as at 31 December 2014 and 31 December 2013 are summarized below.

At 31 December, 2014 At 31 December, 2013

US$
Other  

Currencies uS$
other  

Currencies

(Presented in TT$) (Presented in tt$)

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Assets

Cash & Cash equivalents 693,641 2,559 1,033,928 -

Short-term investments 504,981 - 671,827 -

Fixed income Securities 5,662,793 - 5,112,574 -

equities & Mutual Funds 1,770,747 - 1,628,993 -

Liabilities

Financial instruments (548,110) - (801,539) -

net Assets Attributable to unitholders (4,009,767)                - (3,858,329                 -

Total   4,074,285        2,559                  3,787,454                 -

A 1% change in the tt dollar relative to the uS dollar would have changed the net assets of the Group as at 31 December, 2014 and 31 

December, 2013 as follows:

2014 2013

$’000 $’000

Change in net assets 40,743 37,875

27) Financial Risk Management (continued)
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Credit Risk

Credit risk is the risk that the counter party to a financial instrument will default on its financial obligations i.e. it fails to make full and timely 

payments of scheduled interest and/or principal sums due.  

Default risk is managed by:

i. subjecting counter parties to robust credit risk assessments prior to initial acquisition;

ii. limiting the acquisition or retention of debt instruments to certain credit ratings; and

iii. regular review, measurement and monitoring of counter-parties’ credit ratings.

the maximum exposure to credit risk before enhancements (e.g. collateral) at 31 December is the carrying amount of the financial assets and 

is set out below.

2014
$’000

Restated
2013
$’000

Cash and bank balances (see note 3) 2,398,439 4,374,680

Receivables 163,734 170,904

investment securities (see note 4) 18,721,245 17,016,563

21,283,418 21,562,147

the quality of the Group’s debt securities is analyzed in the table below into high, moderate and low using ratings from international and local 

rating agencies. 

2014
$’000

Restated 
2013
$’000

A rated securities (e.g. S&P AAA to A-) 7,028,407 10,442,880

B rated securities (e.g. S&P BB+ to BBB-) 3,546,126 1,277,518

C rated securities (e.g. CCC+ and below)      187,928      418,589

10,762,461 12,138,987

Short-term investments   4,275,042   3,737,875

15,037,503 15,876,862

27) Financial Risk Management (continued)
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Liquidity Risk

liquidity risk is the risk that an entity will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with financial liabilities that are settled by 

delivering cash or another financial asset as they become due.

the units of the Growth and income Fund, the tt$ income Fund, the uS$ income Fund and the north American Fund are redeemable on 

demand.  the risk is mitigated by each portfolio by maintaining adequate investments in cash, near cash and short-term liabilities.  in addition, 

substantial portions of investments held by the portfolios are tradable.  the risk is therefore deemed insignificant.

the financial liabilities of the Group are summarized by their due dates and shown below.  the amounts disclosed are the contractual 

undiscounted cash flows.

Less than 1 year Between  
1 and 5 years

Over
 5 years

  $’000 $’000 $’000

At 31 December, 2014      

Financial instruments 573,190                  -                   -

net assets attributable to non-group interests 19,536,894                 -                   -

Total   20,110,084                  -                                      -

Less than 1 
year

Between  
1 and 5 years

Over
 5 years

  $’000 $’000 $’000

At 31 December, 2013 - Restated      

Financial instruments 1,175,544                  -                   -

net assets attributable to non-group interests 19,314,323                 -                   -

Total 20,489,867                  -                                      -

27) Financial Risk Management (continued)
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28. INTERESTS CORPORATE ENTITIES

a) Local Corporate Entities

the Corporation established three (3) wholly-owned local subsidiary companies incorporated under the Companies Act 81:01 of the laws of 

the Republic of trinidad and tobago as follows:

Company Interest Principal Place of Business Date of Incorporation

utC Financial Services limited 100% 82, independence Square, Port of Spain, trinidad 23 March, 1999

utC trust Services limited 100% 82, independence Square, Port of Spain, trinidad 2 June, 1999

utC Property Holdings limited 100% 82, independence Square, Port of Spain, trinidad 18 June, 2002

All the Directors of these three companies are Directors of the Corporation.

utC Financial Services limited carries on the business of a registrar and paying agent.

utC trust Services limited was activated in 2012 and is the registered trustee for certain bonds.

utC Property Holdings limited currently owns buildings constructed for rental to the Corporation to house its investment centres.

the assets, liabilities and results of these subsidiaries have been fully incorporated in these Financial Statements. 

the auditor for utC Property Holdings limited and utC Financial Services limited is PricewaterhouseCoopers.

b) Foreign Corporate Entities

the Corporation has four (4) foreign subsidiaries. these are:

Company Interest Date of Incorporation Country of Incorporation

utC Fund Services, inc. 100% 8 December, 1997 Delaware, uSA

utC Financial Services uSA, inc. 100% 8 June, 1999 Rhode island, uSA

utC energy investment limited 100% 31 May, 2007 Delaware, uSA

utC north American Fund inc. 72% 24 october, 1990 Maryland, uSA

the auditors of these foreign subsidiaries are as follows:

Company Auditors

utC Financial Services uSA, inc. Mayer Hoffman McCann P.C. (formerly Kirkland, Russ, Murphy & tapp, uSA)

utC north American Fund inc. Cohen Fund Audit Services, Cleveland, ohio

utC energy investment limited and utC Fund Services inc. are not engaged in activities that require treatment as publicly traded entities and 

do not require audited statements for any regulatory purpose.

utC energy investment limited was incorporated in 2007 under the laws of Delaware, uSA. the Corporation holds 90% capital of this company 

and the Growth and income Fund holds the remaining 10%. All of the assets of this subsidiary are reported on the Consolidated Statement of 

Financial Position.

utC Fund Services inc. was inactive from its incorporation until 1 March, 2009 when it began operations as the investment advisor to the utC 

north American Fund inc.

utC north American Fund inc. is registered as an open-end, diversified, management investment company under the investment Act of 1940 

of the united States of America, as amended.
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29. RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Related parties are individuals or entities that are related to the Corporation. An individual is related to the Corporation when that individual or 

a close member of that individual’s family either:

i. has significant influence over the Corporation; or

ii. is a key member of the management of the Corporation.

An entity is related to the Corporation because the entity is a subsidiary of the Corporation, is an associate of the Corporation, is in a joint 

venture with the Corporation or participates in a post-employment benefit plan of either the Corporation or one of its related entities.

Related party transactions and balances, not disclosed elsewhere in these Financial Statements, are disclosed below.

2014
$’000

2013
$’000

Loans

Key management personnel of the Group 1,756 2,159

Represented by:

Balance at beginning of year 2,159 2,027

loans advanced during year 598 1,250

loan repayments received during year (1,001) (1,118)

interest income during year 79 96

interest received during year (79) (96)

Balance at end of year 1,756 2,159

Key Management compensation

Salaries and other short-term benefits 28,546 25,474

Directors

Consultancy fees to Directors - 1,286

Sale of assets to Directors - 168

units held by Directors and key management personnel 6,771 8,224

Subsidiaries

Rents paid to subsidiaries 10,919 10,919

Administrative services provided to subsidiaries 3,346 3,674

Receivables from Corporate subsidiaries 27,064 24,235

Receivable balances from Funds which are considered subsidiaries for 
the purposes of iFRS 10 (see note 33)

81,264 109,873

loans balances receivable from subsidiaries 2,236 7,734

loan repayments by subsidiaries 5,499 5,965

interest from Corporate subsidiaries 515 967

loan balances payable to Corporate subsidiaries 31,755 31,755

net appropriations payable to the Funds 103,748 108,725



A48 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December, 2014 | Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars

30. COMMITMENTS

At 31 December, 2014, the Group had contractual obligations for capital contributions under two contracts. under the first contract there was 

a capital commitment of $11.7 million payable over the next two and half years (2.5) years (2013: $11.7 million). under the second contract 

there was a contractual obligation in the amount of $20.5 million (2013: $20.5 million).

31. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

(a) At 31 December, 2014, there were no legal proceedings outstanding against the Group and as such no provisions were required. 

(b) Growth and Income Fund Guarantee Pricing Contingent Liability:  the computation of the contingent liability under the Growth and 

income Fund Price Guarantee for the years 2014 and 2013 is provided in the table below:

Year 2014
$’M

2013
$’M

total Guarantee Pricing liability 37.0 50.4

less: Provision (see note 11) (3.7) (5.0)

Contingent liability 33.3 45.4

32. LOCALLY DOMICILED FUNDS

the four (4) locally domiciled Funds controlled by the Corporation, are considered subsidiaries for the purposes of iFRS 10 and are consolidated 

structured entities for the purposes of iFRS 12.  the portfolio values of the locally domiciled Funds are shown in the table below.

2014
$’000

2013
$’000

Growth and income Fund 4,744,088 4,520,770

tt$ income Fund 10,655,688 10,835,646

universal Retirement Fund 276,738 262,045

uS$ income Fund   4,078,936   3,931,856

Total assets 19,755,450 19,550,317

the summarized financial information in notes 33-36 discloses the Corporation’s interests in the Funds and the arrangements that may require 

the Corporation to provide financial support to the Funds.
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33. SUMMARIZED FINANCIAL INFORMATION – GROWTH AND INCOME FUND

the table below summarises financial information for the Growth and income Fund (before inter-entity eliminations or consolidation 

adjustments) for the years 2014 and 2013.

2014
$’000

2013
$’000

Cash and Cash equivalents 569,841 403,163

Receivables 27,164 58,696

investment Securities (see tables below) 4,147,083 4,058,911

Total assets 4,744,088 4,520,770

liabilities 56,715 82,683

equity 4,687,373 4,438,087

Total liabilities and equity 4,744,088 4,520,770

investment income 167,834 193,433

net income available for distribution 14,951 23,193

Distribution (16,547) (31,259)

Allocations to Reserves (see paragraphs below) (1,000) (1,000)

other Comprehensive income for the year 68,624 444,602

Total Comprehensive Income for the year 66,028 435,536

net cash flow from operating activities 71,587 53,466

net cash flow used in investing activities (70,620) (400,679)

net cash flow from financing activities 165,711 221,847

Net change in cash flows for the year 166,678 (125,366)

Investment Securities – Growth and Income Fund

the table below analyses the investment securities held by the Growth and income Fund.

2014
$’000

2013
$’000

Government Securities 690,072 720,527

Corporate Securities 219,275 236,142

equity (local and foreign) 3,038,586 3,072,263

Short-term investments 199,150 29,979

Total 4,147,083 4,058,911

the table below classifies the investment securities held by the Growth and income Fund

2014

$’000

2013

$’000

Available-for-sale assets 3,393,194 3,072,263

Held-to-maturity assets 753,889 986,648

Total 4,147,083 4,058,911
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Growth and Income Fund Guarantee Reserves

in 1984, in accordance with the provisions of Section 26 (1) and (2) of the Act, the Corporation established a Guarantee Reserve Fund in respect 

of the Growth and income Fund (First unit Scheme) to ensure adequate funding of the Guarantee Pricing Plan. During 2014 the Growth and 

income Fund made allocations in the amount of $1.0 million to the Guarantee Reserve. Calls totalling $2.7 million were made on the Reserve, 

of which the Corporation met $1.7 million.

the Corporation has met and will continue to meet any shortfalls in the Guarantee Reserve.  in accordance with the requirements of iAS 37 – 

Provisions, Contingent liabilities and Contingent Assets - a provision for this liability has been established (see note 11).

in 2012 the Board approved the establishment of a Secondary Reserve Facility for the Growth and income Fund (First unit Scheme). the 

Secondary Reserve Facility is funded from: income of the Growth and income Fund, and income of the Corporation. the Secondary Reserve 

is used to fund requirements for capital reinstatement and/or distribution liabilities of the Growth and income Fund.  A summary of the 

transactions in each of the Growth and income Fund Reserves is provided below.

Growth and Income Fund Primary Reserve 2014
$’000

2013
$’000

Fund Reserve as at 1 January - -

Allocation to Reserve (Growth and income Fund) 1,000 1,000

Call on Reserve (2,739) (7,634)

Allocation to Reserve (Corporation) 1,739 6,634

Guarantee Reserve as at 31 December - -

Growth and Income Fund Secondary Reserve Facility 2014
$’000

2013
$’000

Fund Reserve as at 1 January - 53,000

Allocation to Reserve (Growth and income Fund) - -

Call on Reserve - (53,000)

Secondary Reserve as at 31 December - -

Total Growth and Income Fund Reserves as at 31 December - -

the Corporation may from time to time transfer a portion of its income to the secondary reserves of the Growth and income Fund.

During 2014 the Corporation transferred $8.2 million (2013: $2.65 million) to the Growth and income Fund to support the June distribution 

of the Growth and income Fund.  the Corporation is the sponsor of the Growth and income Fund and is committed to supporting the Fund 

financially and otherwise as necessary. 

More detailed financial information in respect of the Growth and income Fund may be found in the Additional information section of these 

Financial Statements.

33) Summarized Financial Information – Growth and Income Fund (continued)
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34. SUMMARIZED FINANCIAL INFORMATION – TT$ INCOME FUND

the table below summarises financial information for the tt$ income Fund (before inter-entity eliminations or consolidation adjustments) for 

the years 2014 and 2013.

2014
TT$’000

2013
tt$’000

Cash and Cash equivalents 1,029,044 2,815,569

Receivables 348,217 294,932

investment Securities (see tables below) 9,278,427 7,725,145

Total assets 10,665,688 10,835,646

liabilities 181,207 173,052

equity 10,474,481 10,662,594

Total liabilities and equity 10,655,688 10,836,646

investment income 293,945 311,825

net income available for distribution 101,837 128,006

Distributions (99,037) (125,206)

Allocations to Reserves (see paragraphs below) (2,800) (2,800)

other comprehensive (loss)/income for the year (7,668) 4,860

Total comprehensive (loss)/income for the year (7,668) 4,860

net cash flow from operating activities 62,886 90,089

net cash used in investing activities (1,567,129) (1,679,264)

net cash used in financing activities (282,282) (666,882)

Net change in cash flows for the year (1,786,525) (2,256,057)

the table below analyses the investment securities held by the tt$ income Fund

2014
$’000

2013
$’000

Government securities 3,259,105 3,083,977

Corporate securities 2,498,857 3,019,478

Short-term investments 3,520,465 1,621,690

Total 9,278,427 7,725,145



A52 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December, 2014 | Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars

the table below classifies the investment securities held by the tt$ income Fund

2014
$’000

2013
$’000

Available-for-sale assets 1,503,545
1,428,854

Held-to-maturity assets 7,774,882 6,296,291

Total 9,278,427 7,725,145

TT$ Income Fund Reserves

in accordance with the provisions of Section 13 of the tt$ income Fund (Second unit Scheme) Regulations issued under the Act, the 

Corporation established two reserves in respect of the tt$ income Fund - a Primary Reserve and a Secondary Reserve.

the Primary Reserve was established to satisfy any shortfall that may arise from the liquidation of securities in the portfolio of the Fund. 

the Secondary Reserve was established to augment the capital maintenance capability of the Fund and to provide for the funding of any 

distribution liability which may arise.

the Corporation may from time to time transfer a portion of its income to the Reserves of the tt$ income Fund.

A summary of the transactions in the tt$ income Fund Reserves is provided below.

TT$ Income Fund – Primary Reserve 2014
$’000

2013
$’000

Fund reserve as at 1 January 38,669 35,553

Allocation to primary reserve 2,800 2,800

interest earned on the reserve 191 316

Primary Reserve as at 31 December 41,660 38,669

TT$ Income Fund – Secondary Reserve 2014
$’000

2013
$’000

Fund reserve as at 1 January 3,605 3,575

interest earned on the reserve 18 30

Secondary Reserve as at 31 December 3,623 3,605

Total TT$ Income Fund Reserves as at 31 December 45,283 42,274

the Corporation is the sponsor of the tt$ income Fund and is committed to supporting the fund financially and otherwise as and when 

necessary.  no transfers to support the tt$ income Fund were required during 2014.

More detailed financial information in respect of the tt$ income Fund may be found in the Additional information section of these Financial 

Statements.

34) Summarized Financial Information – TT$ Income Fund (continued)
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35. SUMMARIZED FINANCIAL INFORMATION – UNIVERSAL RETIREMENT FUND 

the table below summarises financial information for the universal Retirement Fund (before inter-entity eliminations or consolidation 

adjustments) for the years 2014 and 2013.

2014
$’000

2013
$’000

Cash and Cash equivalents 42,208 17,801

Receivables 1,440 1,466

investment Securities (see tables below) 233,090 242,779

Total assets 276,738 262,046

liabilities 2,798 4,697

equity 273,940 257,349

Total liabilities and equity 276,738 262,046

investment income 9,969 16,245

net income for capitalization 1,950 8,540

other Comprehensive income for the year 3,196 15,895

Total comprehensive income for the year 5,146 24,435

net cash flow from operating activities 2,268 13,007

net cash flow from/(used in) investing activities 10,694 (35,856)

net cash flow from financing activities 11,445 20,206

Net change in cash flows for the year 24,407 (2,643)

the table below analyses the investment securities held by the universal Retirement Fund.

2014
$’000

2013
$’000

Government Securities 32,799
33,596

Corporate Securities 32,292
35,539

equity (local and foreign) 167,999 173,644

Total 233,090 242,779

the table below classifies the investment securities held by the universal Retirement Fund.

2014
$’000

2013
$’000

Available-for-sale assets 192,728
199,562

Held-to-maturity assets 40,362 43,217

Total 233,090 242,779

the Corporation is the sponsor of the universal Retirement Fund and is committed to supporting the fund financially and otherwise as and 

when necessary.  no transfers to support the universal Retirement Fund were required during 2014.

More detailed financial information in respect of the universal Retirement Fund may be found in the Additional information section of these 

Consolidated Financial Statements.
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36. SUMMARIZED FINANCIAL INFORMATION – US$ INCOME FUND 

the table below summarises Financial information for the uS$ income Fund (before inter-entity eliminations or consolidation adjustments) 

for the years 2014 and 2013.

2014
$’000

2013
$’000

Cash and Cash equivalents 368,447 501,343

Receivables 98,783 113,011

investment Securities (see tables below) 3,611,706 3,317,502

Total assets 4,078,936 3,931,856

liabilities 24,518 31,777

equity 4,054,418 3,900,079

Total liabilities and equity 4,078,936 3,931,856

investment income 100,706 120,131

net income available for distribution 11,301 48,672

Distributions (31,142) (42,159)

Allocations to reserves (see paragraphs below) (12,052) (19,141)

other Comprehensive income/(loss) for the year 21,923 (39,376)

Total comprehensive loss for the year (9,970) (52,004)

net cash flow from operating activities 64,429 303,928

net cash used in investing activities (318,333) (135,831)

net cash flow from/(used in) financing activities 120,367 (705,572)

Net change in cash flows for the year (133,537) (537,475)

the table below analyses the investment securities held by the uS$ income Fund

2014
$’000

2013
$’000

Government securities 337,141 360,426

Corporate securities 2,850,388
2,354,316

Short-term investments 424,177 602,760

Total 3,611,706 3,317,502

the table below classifies the investment securities held by the uS$ income Fund

2014
$’000

2013
$’000

Available-for-sale assets 2,887,185 2,364,024

Held-to-maturity assets 724,521 953,478

Total 3,611,706 3,317,502
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US$ Income Fund Reserves

in accordance with the provisions of Section 26 (1) and (2) of the Act, the Corporation has established two reserves in respect of the uS$ 

income Fund,  a Primary Reserve and a Secondary Reserve.

the Primary Reserve was established to satisfy any shortfall that may arise from the liquidation of securities in the portfolio of the Fund. there 

was a call on the Primary Reserve during 2014.

the Secondary Reserve was established to augment the capital maintenance capability of the Fund and to provide for the funding of any 

distribution liability which may arise.  there was a call on the Secondary Reserve during 2013.

A summary of the transactions in the uS$ income Fund Reserves is provided below.

US$ Income Fund – Primary Reserve 2014
$’000

2013
$’000

Fund reserve as at 1 January 46,016 38,007

Allocation to primary reserve 7,668 7,629

Call on reserve (31,909) -

interest earned on the reserve 109 235

Revaluation 592 145

Primary Reserve as at 31 December 22,476 46,016

US$ Income Fund – Secondary Reserve 2014
$’000

2013
$’000

Fund reserve as at 1 January 20,435 21,344

Allocation to secondary reserve 4,401 11,478

Call on reserves - (12,628)

interest earned on the reserve 85 175

Revaluation 33 66

Secondary Reserve as at 31 December 24,954 20,435

Total US$ Income Fund Reserves as at 31 December 47,430 66,451

the Corporation is the sponsor of the uS$ income Fund and is committed to supporting the Fund financially and otherwise as and when 

necessary. no transfers to support the uS$ income Fund were required during 2014.

More detailed financial information in respect of the uS$ income Fund may be found in the Additional information section of these Financial 

Statements.

36) Summarized Financial Information – US$ Income Fund  (continued)
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37. SUMMARIZED FINANCIAL INFORMATION – NORTH AMERICAN FUND 

the north American Fund is an investment company organized under the investment Act 1940 of the united States of America.  it is controlled 

by the Corporation though there is significant shareholding by third parties.  the table below summarizes financial information for the north 

American Fund (before inter-entity eliminations or consolidation adjustments) for the years 2014 and 2013.

2014
TT$’000

2013
tt$’000

Cash and cash equivalents 6 10

Receivables & other assets 520 463

investment securities (see tables below) 263,957 226,526

Total assets 264,483 226,999

liabilities 2,003 1,522

equity 262,480 225,477

Total liabilities and equity 262,483 226,999

investment income 3,894 23,423

net (loss)/income (1,152) 18,652

Distributions 4,956 11,690

other comprehensive income for the year 25,210 10,102

net cash (used in)/flow from operating activities (379) 298

net cash (used in)/flow from investing activities (12,561) 176

net cash flow from/(used in) financing activities 12,937 (507)

Net change in cash flows for the year (3) (33)

the table below analyses the investment securities held by the north American Fund.

2014
$’000

2013
$’000

Corporate securities 37,512 26,932

equity (foreign) 213,378 185,328

Short-term investments 13,067 14,266

Total 263,957 226,526
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the table below classifies the investment securities held by the north American Fund

2014
$’000

2013
$’000

Available-for-sale assets 263,957 226,526

Held-to-maturity assets - -

Total 263,957 226,526

the Corporation is the sponsor of the north American Fund and is committed to supporting the Fund financially and otherwise as and when 

necessary. no transfers to support the north American Fund were required during 2014.

38. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

these Financial Statements were approved by the Board of Directors and authorized for issue on 5th March, 2015.

37) Summarized Financial Information – North American Fund   (continued)
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A-1ADDitionAl inFoRMAtion

TRINIDAD AND TOBAGO UNIT TRUST CORPORATION

31-Dec-14 31-Dec-13

ASSETS  $'000  $'000 

Cash and Cash equivalents 569,841 403,163 

Receivables 27,164 58,696 

investment Securities 4,147,083 4,058,911 

TOTAL ASSETS 4,744,088 4,520,770 

LIABILITIES

Accounts Payable  56,443 48,255 

other liabilities 272 34,428 

TOTAL LIABILITIES 56,715 82,683 

EQUITY

net Assets attributable to  unit holders 3,218,515 3,035,257 

Fair value Reserve 1,564,968 1,496,344 

Retained earnings (96,110) (93,514)

TOTAL EQUITY 4,687,373 4,438,087 

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY  4,744,088  4,520,770 

GRoWtH AnD inCoMe FunD  
(FiRSt unit SCHeMe)  
StAteMent oF FinAnCiAl PoSition 
As at 31 December, 2014
Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars



A-2 UNIT TRUST CORPORATION ANNUAL REPORT 2014

TRINIDAD AND TOBAGO UNIT TRUST CORPORATION

GRoWtH AnD inCoMe FunD 
(FiRSt unit SCHeMe)  
StAteMent oF PRoFit oR loSS 

31-Dec-14 31-Dec-13

 $ '000  $ '000 

INCOME

interest income 68,700 54,411 

Dividends income 89,870 113,507 

Realised Capital Gains 9,264 25,515 

Total 167,834 193,433 

EXPENSES

Management Charge (94,560) (81,209)

impairment (51,072) (80,951)

other expenses (1,161) (62)

Total Expenses (146,793) (162,222)

Net Income Before Taxation 21,041 31,211 

Withholding taxes (6,090) (8,018)

Net Income Available For Distribution  14,951  23,193 

Distribution Paid to initial Contributors  (57)  (114)

Distribution Paid to unitholders  (16,490)  (31,145)

Total Distribution  (16,547)  (31,259)

Undistributed Loss Before Transfer To Reserves  (1,596)  (8,066)

Allocation to Guarantee Reserve Fund  (1,000)  (1,000)

UNDISTRIBUTED LOSS AT END OF YEAR  (2,596)  (9,066)

For the year ended 31 December, 2014  
Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars



A-3ADDitionAl inFoRMAtion

TRINIDAD AND TOBAGO UNIT TRUST CORPORATION

GRoWtH AnD inCoMe FunD 
(FiRSt unit SCHeMe)  
StAteMent oF CoMPReHenSive inCoMe 

31-Dec-14 31-Dec-13

 $'000  $'000 

UNDISTRIBUTED LOSS FOR THE YEAR  (2,596) (9,066)

Other Comprehensive Income: 

Amounts that may be transferred to Profit or Loss in the future:

Fair value gains arising during the year  27,684  387,824 

Fair value gains transferred to income  (10,132)  (24,173)

impairment losses transferred to income  51,072  80,951 

Other Comprehensive Income for the year  68,624  444,602 

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR 66,028 435,536

For the year ended 31 December, 2014  
Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars



A-4 UNIT TRUST CORPORATION ANNUAL REPORT 2014

TRINIDAD AND TOBAGO UNIT TRUST CORPORATION

Net Assets 
Attributable to 

Unitholders

Fair Value 
Reserve

Fund  
Reserve

Retained 
Earnings

Total

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Balance as at 1 January, 2014  3,035,257  1,496,344  -  (93,514)  4,438,087 

Subscriptions from unitholders  267,382  -  -  267,382 

Redemptions to unitholders  (84,124)  -  -  (84,124)

other Comprehensive income for the year  -  68,624  (2,596)  66,028 

Balance  as at 31 December, 2014  3,218,515  1,564,968  -  (96,110)  4,687,373 

Balance as at 1 January, 2013  2,728,151  1,051,742  53,000  (84,448)  3,748,445 

Subscriptions from unitholders  306,286  -  -  306,286 

Redemptions to unitholders  (52,180)  -  -  (52,180)

Fund Reserve  53,000  (53,000)  - 

other Comprehensive income for the year  -  444,602  (9,066)  435,536 

Balance  as at 31 December, 2013  3,035,257  1,496,344  -  (93,514)  4,438,087 

GRoWtH AnD inCoMe FunD 
(FiRSt unit SCHeMe)  
StAteMent oF CHAnGeS in eQuitY 
For the year ended 31 December, 2014  
Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars



A-5ADDitionAl inFoRMAtion

TRINIDAD AND TOBAGO UNIT TRUST CORPORATION

GRoWtH AnD inCoMe FunD 
(FiRSt unit SCHeMe)  
StAteMent oF  CASH FloWS 

31-Dec-14 31-Dec-13

 $ ‘000  $ ‘000 

OPERATING ACTIVITIES

net income before taxation 21,041 31,211 

Adjustment to reconcile net income to net cash and cash equivalents 

 from operating activities:

impairment 51,072 80,951 

taxation Paid (6,090) (8,018)

66,023 104,144 

Movements in Working Capital

Decrease/(increase) in Receivables 31,532 (11,416)

Decrease in Accounts Payables (25,968) (39,262)

Net Cash Flow From Operating Activities 71,587 53,466 

INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Purchase of investment Securities (377,802) (1,005,356)

Disposal of investment Securities 307,182 604,677 

 

Net Cash Used In Investing Activities (70,620) (400,679)

 

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Subscriptions from unitholders 267,382 306,287 

Redemptions to unitholders (84,124) (52,181)

Distributions to unitholders  (16,547) (31,259)

Guarantee Reserve  (1,000) (1,000)

Net Cash Flow From Financing Activities 165,711 221,847 

NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 166,678 (125,366)

Cash and Cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 403,163 528,529 

Cash and Cash Equivalents at the end of the year 569,841 403,163 

For the year ended 31 December, 2014  
Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars



A-6 UNIT TRUST CORPORATION ANNUAL REPORT 2014

TRINIDAD AND TOBAGO UNIT TRUST CORPORATION

31-Dec-14 31-Dec-13

$ ‘000  $ ‘000 

ASSETS

Cash and Cash equivalents  1,029,044 2,815,569

Receivables  348,217 294,932

investment Securities  9,278,427 7,725,145

Total Assets  10,655,688  10,835,646 

LIABILITIES

Payables  32,713 51,404

other liabilities  148,494 121,648

Total Liabilities  181,207  173,052 

EQUITY AND RESERVES

net Assets Attributable to unitholders  10,412,115 10,595,569

other Reserves  9,918 9,918

Fund Reserves  45,283 42,274

Fair valuation Reserve  7,165 14,833

Total Equity and Reserves  10,474,481  10,662,594 

TOTAL LIABILITIES, EQUITY AND RESERVES  10,655,688  10,835,646 

tt DollAR inCoMe FunD   
StAteMent oF FinAnCiAl PoSition   
For the year ended 31 December, 2014  
Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars



A-7ADDitionAl inFoRMAtion

TRINIDAD AND TOBAGO UNIT TRUST CORPORATION

tt DollAR inCoMe FunD
StAteMent oF PRoFit oR loSS

31-Dec-14 31-Dec-13

 $ ‘000  $ ‘000 

INCOME

interest income  290,697 303,167 

Realised Capital loss  (744)  - 

net Foreign exchange Gains  2,015 1,089 

other income  1,977 7,569 

Total Income  293,945  311,825 

EXPENSES

Management Charge  (174,905) (159,028)

impairment  (6,179) (12,215)

Commissions  (10,719) (12,126)

other expenses  (305) (450)

Total Expenses (192,108) (183,819)

NET INCOME AVAILABLE FOR DISTRIBUTION  101,837 128,006 

Distribution  (81,910) (119,732)

Provision for Distribution  (17,127) (5,474)

Total Distribution  (99,037) (125,206)

UNDISTRIBUTED INCOME BEFORE TRANSFER TO RESERVES  2 800 2 800 

Allocation to Primary Reserve  (2 800) (2 800)

UNDISTRIBUTED PROFIT FOR THE YEAR - -

For the year ended 31 December, 2014  
Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars
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TRINIDAD AND TOBAGO UNIT TRUST CORPORATION

tt DollAR inCoMe FunD   
StAteMent oF CoMPReHenSive inCoMe   

31-Dec-14 31-Dec-13

 $ ‘000  $ ‘000 

UNDISTRIBUTED INCOME/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR  - -

Other Comprehensive Income: 

Amounts that may be transferred to Profit or Loss in the future:

Fair value losses arising during the year  (16,834)  (176,249)

Fair value gains transferred to income  2,987  193,324 

impairment losses transferred to income  6,179  (12,215)

Other Comprehensive (Loss)/ Income for the year  (7,668)  4,860 

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS)/INCOME FOR THE YEAR  (7,668)  4,860 

For the year ended 31 December, 2014  
Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars



A-9ADDitionAl inFoRMAtion

TRINIDAD AND TOBAGO UNIT TRUST CORPORATION

tt DollAR inCoMe FunD   
StAteMent oF CHAnGeS in eQuitY

Net Assets 
Attributable to 

Unitholders

Other 
Reserves

Retained 
Earnings

Fair Value 
Reserve

Fund 
Reserve 

Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Balance as at 1 January, 2014  10,595,569  9,918 -  14,833  42,274  10,662,594 

net income Available for Distribution  -  -  101,837  -  -  101,837 

Subscriptions from unitholders  1,395,280  -  -  -  -  1,395,280 

Redemptions to unitholders  (1,578,734)  -  -  -  -  (1,578,734)

Reallocation to income  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Distributions to unitholders  -  -  (99,037)  -  -  (99,037)

net Allocation to Reserves  -  -  (2,800)  -  3,009  209 

other Comprehensive loss for the year  -  -  -  (7,668)  -  (7,668)

Balance  as at 31 December, 2014  10,412,115  9,918  0  7,165  45,283  10,474,481 

Balance as at 1 January, 2013  11,144,748  9,918  -  9,973  39,128  11,203,767 

net income Available for Distribution  -  -  128,006  -  -  128,006 

Subscriptions from unitholders  2,273,416  -  -  -  -  2,273,416 

Redemptions to unitholders  (2,815,438)  -  -  -  -  (2,815,438)

Reallocation to income  (7,157)  -  -  -  -  (7,157)

Distributions to unitholders  -  -  (125,206)  -  -  (125,206)

net Allocation to Reserves  -  -  (2,800)  -  3,146  346 

other Comprehensive income for the year  -  -  -  4,860  -  4,860 

Balance  as at 31 December, 2013  10,595,569  9,918 -  14,833  42,274  10,662,594 

For the year ended 31 December, 2014  
Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars
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TRINIDAD AND TOBAGO UNIT TRUST CORPORATION

tt DollAR inCoMe FunD   
StAteMent oF CASH FloWS  

31-Dec-14 31-Dec-13

 $'000  $'000 

OPERATING ACTIVITIES

net income  101,837  128,006 

Adjustments to reconcile Net Investment Income to Net Cash

    Flow From Operating Activities:

impairment  6,179  12,215 

 108,016  140,221 

Movements in Working Capital

increase in Receivables  (53,285)  (33,028)

increase/(Decrease) in Payables  8,155  (17,104)

Net Cash Flow From Operating Activities  62,886  90,089 

INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Purchase of investment Securities  (4,018,593)  (6,596,279)

Disposal of investment Securities  2,451,464  4,917,015 

 

Net Cash Used In Investing Activities  (1,567,129)  (1,679,264)

 

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Subscriptions from unitholders  1,395,280  2,273,416 

Redemptions to unitholders  (1,578,734)  (2,815,438)

Distribution to unitholders  (99,037)  (125,206)

interest earned on the Reserve  209  346 

 

Net Cash Used In Financing Activities  (282,282)  (666,882)

NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS  (1,786,525)  (2,256,057)

Cash and Cash equivalents at beginning of the year  2,815,569  5,071,626 

Cash and Cash Equivalents at end of the year  1,029,044  2,815,569 

For the year ended 31 December, 2014  
Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars



A-11ADDitionAl inFoRMAtion

TRINIDAD AND TOBAGO UNIT TRUST CORPORATION

univeRSAl RetiReMent FunD
StAteMent oF FinAnCiAl PoSition

31-Dec-14 31-Dec-13

 $ '000           $ '000 

ASSETS

Cash and Cash equivalents 42,208 17,801 

Receivables 1,440 1,465 

investment Securities 233,090 242,779 

Total Assets 276,738 262,045 

LIABILITIES

Accounts Payable 2,794 2,691 

other liabilities 4 2,006 

Total Liabilities 2,798 4,697 

EQUITY 

net Assets attributable to  unit holders 154,308 142,862 

Fair value Reserve 63,849 60,653 

Retained earnings 55,783 53,833 

Total Equity 273,940 257,348 

Total Liabilities and Equity  276,738  262,045 

As at 31 December, 2014   
Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars



A-12 UNIT TRUST CORPORATION ANNUAL REPORT 2014

TRINIDAD AND TOBAGO UNIT TRUST CORPORATION

31-Dec-14 31-Dec-13

 $ '000 $ '000

INCOME

Dividends 5,508 6,604 

interest 3,431 3,120 

Realised Gains 1,030 6,502 

Miscellaneous income  -  19 

TOTAL INCOME 9,969 16,245 

EXPENSES

Management Charge (5,395) (4,788)

impairment  (2,192) (2,387)

other expenses (4) (4)

TOTAL EXPENSES (7,591) (7,179)

Net Income before Taxation 2,378 9,066 

Withholding tax (428) (526)

NET INCOME FOR CAPITALISATION 1,950 8,540 

univeRSAl RetiReMent FunD    
StAteMent oF PRoFit oR loSS    
For the year ended 31 December, 2014  
Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars



A-13ADDitionAl inFoRMAtion

TRINIDAD AND TOBAGO UNIT TRUST CORPORATION

31-Dec-14 31-Dec-13

 $ ‘000  $ ‘000 

Net Income for the year  1,950 8,540 

Other Comprehensive Income: 

Amounts that may be transferred to Profit or Loss in the future:

-Fair value gains arising during the year  2,046  20,194 

-Fair value gains transferred to income  (1,042) (6,686)

-impairment losses transferred to income  2,192  2,387 

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR  3,196  15,895 

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR  5,146  24,435 

univeRSAl RetiReMent FunD    
StAteMent oF CoMPReHenSive inCoMe 
As at 31 December, 2014   
Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars



A-14 UNIT TRUST CORPORATION ANNUAL REPORT 2014

TRINIDAD AND TOBAGO UNIT TRUST CORPORATION

Net Assets 
Attributable to 

Unitholders

Fair Value 
Reserve

Retained 
Earnings

Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Balance as at 1 January, 2014  142,863  60,653  53,833  257,349 

total Comprehensive income for the year  -  3,196  1,950  5,146 

Subscriptions from  unit holders  29,264  -  -  29,264 

Redemptions to  unit holders  (17,819)  -  -  (17,819)

Balance as at 31 December, 2014  154,308  63,849  55,783  273,940 

Balance as at 1 January, 2013  122,656  44,758  45,293  212,707 

total Comprehensive income for the year  -  15,895  8,540  24,435 

Subscriptions from  unit holders  38,604  -  -  38,604 

Redemptions to  unit holders  (18,397)  -  -  (18,397)

Balance as at 31 December, 2013  142,863  60,653  53,833  257,348 

univeRSAl RetiReMent FunD    
StAteMent oF CHAnGeS in eQuitY    
For the year ended 31 December, 2014  
Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars



A-15ADDitionAl inFoRMAtion

TRINIDAD AND TOBAGO UNIT TRUST CORPORATION

31-Dec-14 31-Dec-13

 $ ‘000  $ ‘000 

OPERATING ACTIVITIES

net investment income 2,378 9,066 

Adjustments to reconcile Net Investment Income to Net Cash

 Flow From Operating Activities:

impairment  2,192  2,387 

taxation Paid (428) (526)

4,142 10,927 

Movements in Working Capital

Decrease/(increase) in Receivables 25 (453)

(Decrease)/increase in Payables (1,899) 2,533 

Net Cash Flow From Operating Activities 2,268 13,007

 INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Purchase of investment Securities (3,032) (70,283)

Disposal of investment Securities 13,726 34,427 

 

Net Cash Flow From/(Used in) Investing Activities 10,694 (35,856)

 

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Subscriptions from  unit holders 29,264 38,603 

Redemptions to  unit holders (17,819) (18,397)

 

Net Cash Flow From Financing Activities 11,445 20,206 

NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 24,407 (2,643)

Cash and Cash Equivalents at beginning of the year 17,801 20,444 

Cash and Cash Equivalents at end of the year 42,208 17,801 

univeRSAl RetiReMent FunD
StAteMent oF CASH FloWS
For the year ended 31 December, 2014  
Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars
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TRINIDAD AND TOBAGO UNIT TRUST CORPORATION

31-Dec-14 31-Dec-13

$ ‘000  $ ‘000 

ASSETS

Cash and Cash equivalents  368,447  501,343 

Receivables  98,783  113,011 

investments Securities  3,611,706  3,317,502 

   

Total Assets  4,078,936  3,931,856 

LIABILITIES

Payables  24,182  31,439 

other liabilities  336  338 

Total Liabilities  24,518  31,777 

EQUITY AND RESERVES

net Assets Attributable to unitholders  4,009,767  3,858,329 

other Reserves  180  180 

undistributable loss  (73,259)  (41,216)

Fair valuation Reserve  (2,959)  (24,881)

Fund Reserves  47,430  66,451 

Capital Reinstatement  73,259  41,216 

Total Equity and Reserves  4,054,418  3,900,079 

TOTAL LIABILITIES EQUITY AND RESERVES  4,078,936  3,931,856 

uS DollAR inCoMe FunD     
StAteMent oF FinAnCiAl PoSition    
For the year ended 31 December, 2014  
Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars



A-17ADDitionAl inFoRMAtion

TRINIDAD AND TOBAGO UNIT TRUST CORPORATION

31-Dec-14 31-Dec-13

$’000 $’000

INCOME

interest income 98,594 113,889 

Realised Capital losses (5,862) -

other income 7,974 6,242 

Total Income 100,706 120,131 

EXPENSES

Management Charge  (42,047)  (36,734)

impairment  (46,158)  (33,443)

Commissions  (1,074)  (1,147)

other expenses  (126)  (135)

Total Expenses (89,405) (71,459)

NET INCOME AVAILABLE FOR DISTRIBUTION 11,301 48,672 

Distribution  (31,142) (42,159)

Total Distribution (31,142) (42,159)

UNDISTRIBUTED (LOSS/)INCOME BEFORE TRANSFER TO RESERVES (19,841) 6,513 

Allocation to Primary Reserve  (7,654) (7,654)

Allocation to Secondary Reserve  (4,398) (11,487)

UNDISTRIBUTED LOSS FOR THE YEAR  (31,893)  (12,628)

uS DollAR inCoMe FunD     
StAteMent oF PRoFit oR loSS
For the year ended 31 December, 2014  
Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars
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TRINIDAD AND TOBAGO UNIT TRUST CORPORATION

31-Dec-14 31-Dec-13

 $ ‘000  $ ‘000 

UNDISTRIBUTED LOSS FOR THE YEAR (31,893) (12,628)

Other Comprehensive Income: 

Amounts that may be transferred to Profit or Loss in the future:

Fair value losses arising during the year  (24,959)  (69,897)

Fair value losses/(gains) transferred to income  725  (2,864)

impairment losses transferred to income  46,158  33,443 

exchange translation differences  (1)  (58)

Other Comprehensive Income/(Loss) for the year  21,923  (39,376)

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FOR THE YEAR  (9,970)  (52,004)

uS DollAR inCoMe FunD     
StAteMent oF CoMPReHenSive inCoMe   
For the year ended 31 December, 2014  
Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars



A-19ADDitionAl inFoRMAtion

TRINIDAD AND TOBAGO UNIT TRUST CORPORATION

Net Assets 
Attributable to 

Unitholders

Other  
Reserves

Retained 
Earnings

Fair Value 
Reserve

Fund  
Reserves

Capital  
Reinstatement

Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Balance as at 1 January, 2014  3,858,329  180  (41,216)  (24,881)  66,451  41,216  3,900,079 

net income Available for Distribution  -  -  11,301  -  -  -  11,301 

exchange translation differences  121  -  (150)  (1)  -  150  120 

Subscriptions from  unit holders  998,444  -  -  -  -  -  998,444 

Redemptions to  unit holders  (847,127)  -  -  -  -  -  (847,127)

Distribution to  unit holders  -  -  (31,142)  -  -  -  (31,142)

Capital Reinstatement  -  -  -  -  -  31,893  31,893 

net Allocation to Reserves  -  -  (12,052)  -  (19,021)  -  (31,073)

other Comprehensive income  
for the year

 -  -  21,923  -  -  21,923 

Balance  as at 31 December, 2014  4,009,767  180 (73,259)  (2,959)  47,430  73,259  4,054,418 

Balance as at 1 January, 2013  4,504,255  179  (28,588)  14,437  59,352  28,588  4,578,223 

net income Available for Distribution  -  -  48,672  -  -  -  48,672 

exchange translation differences  18,073  1  -  58  -  -  18,132 

Subscriptions from  unit holders  1,174,047  -  -  -  -  -  1,174,047 

Redemptions to  unit holders  (1,838,046)  -  -  -  -  -  (1,838,046)

Distribution to  unit holders  -  -  (42,159)  -  -  -  (42,159)

Capital Reinstatement  -  -  -  12,628  12,628 

net Allocation to Reserves  -  -  (19,141)  -  7,099  -  (12,042)

other Comprehensive loss  
for the year

 -  -  (39,376)  -  -  (39,376)

Balance  as at 31 December, 2013   3,858,329  180 (41,216)  (24,881)  66,451  41,216  3,900,079 

uS DollAR inCoMe FunD     
StAteMent oF CHAnGeS in eQuitY
For the year ended 31 December, 2014  
Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars
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TRINIDAD AND TOBAGO UNIT TRUST CORPORATION

31-Dec-14 31-Dec-13

$’000 $’000

OPERATING ACTIVITIES

net income 11,301 48,672 

Adjustments to reconcile Net Investment Income to Net Cash

    Flow From Operating Activities:

impairment 46,158  33,443 

57,459 82,115 

Movements in Working Capital

Decrease in Receivables 14,229 314,256 

Decrease in Payables (7,259) (92,443)

Net Cash From Operating Activities 64,429 303,928 

INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Purchase of investment Securities (1,349,615) (1,612,032)

Disposal of investment Securities 1,031,282 1,476,201 

 

Net Cash Used In Investing Activities (318,333) (135,831)

 

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Subscriptions from unitholders 998,444 1,174,047 

Redemptions to unitholders (847,127) (1,838,046)

Distribution to unitholders (31,142)  (42,159)

interest earned on Fund Reserves 192  586 

Net Cash Flow From/(Used In) Financing Activities 120,367 (705,572)

NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS  (133,537)  (537,475)

Cash and Cash equivalents at beginning of year 501,343 1,034,905 

transalation Differences on Fund Reserves 625  (239)

translation Adjustment 16 4,152 

Cash and Cash equivalents at end of year 368,447   501,343 

For the year ended 31 December, 2014   
Expressed in Trinidad and Tobago Dollars

US DOLLAR INCOME FUND     
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS   







CONTRIBUTORS  
TO INITIAL CAPITAL
Central Bank of trinidad & tobago  

the national insurance Board of trinidad and tobago 

COMMERCIAL BANKS   

Citibank (trinidad & tobago) limited 

First Citizens Bank limited  

RBC Royal  Bank limited  

Republic Bank limited  

Scotiabank trinidad & tobago limited 

NON-BANK FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS  

AnSA Finance & Merchant Bank limited 

Caribbean Finance Company limited

Clico investment Bank limited 

First Citizens Asset Management limited         

Massy  Finance GFC limited (formerly General Finance Corporation limited) 

RBC trust limited        

RBC Merchant Bank (Caribbean)  limited 

Republic Finance & Merchant Bank limited 

Scotiatrust & Merchant Bank trinidad & tobago limited

LIFE INSURANCE COMPANIES

British-American insurance Company (trinidad) limited

Colonial life insurance Company (trinidad) limited

Cuna Caribbean insurance Society limited

Demerara life Assurance Company of trinidad tobago

Guardian life of the Caribbean limited

Maritime life (Caribbean) limited (re Winsure life insurance Company ltd.)

MeGA insurance Company limited

nationwide insurance Company limited

Pan American (formerly American life insurance Company ltd.)

Sagicor life inc. 

tatil life Assurance Company ltd.
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UTC Financial Centre

82 Independence Square

Port of Spain

Trinidad and Tobago

Telephone: (868) 625-UNIT (8648)

Fax: (868) 624-0819

Email: utc@ttutc.com

Website: www.ttutc.com

 www.facebook.com/ttutc

www.twitter.com/ttutc

www.youtube.com/ttutc


